Public Document Pack
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services - Executive Members & Corporate Director Meetings Department
Friday, 27 May 2022 / 2.00 pm

AGENDA

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of item(s) # on the grounds
that it/they each involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraph(s) # of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to information)(Variation) Order 2006

Items for Executive Member decision
Item for Assistant Director, Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
4

Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal
procurement Exemption Peter

Peter Jeffreys

Items for Corporate Director decision
5

Opposed footpath No 25.121 048 Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft,
Diversion Order (Pages 15 - 24)

Penny Noake

6

Opposed Public Footpath 25.114-9, Back Lane, Wrelton, Modification
oder 2012 - PINS proposed amendment to order (Pages 25 - 38)

Penny Noake

7

Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement Project (Pages 39 - 52)

Michael Reynolds

8

HM Government consultation on developing the UK Emissions
Trading Scheme (Pages 53 - 70)

Peter Jeffreys

9

Highway Capital Programme Headline Allocation Summary
(Pages 71 - 88)

James Gilroy

10

A6068 Cowling and Glusburn - Proposed 40 mph speed restriction
(Pages 89 - 114)

James Malcolm

11

Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology
(Pages 115 - 126)

Louise Neale

12

NYCC Cycle Design Guide (Pages 127 - 166)

Louise Neale

Page 1
OFFICIAL
OFFICIAL

23-24

Circulation:
Executive Members
Derek Bastiman
Keane Duncan

Officer attendees
Karl Battersby
Jane Connolly
Michael Leah

Page 2
OFFICIAL
OFFICIAL

Presenting Officers
Peter Jeffreys
Penny Noake
Michael Reynolds
James Gilroy
James Malcolm
Louise Neale

Agenda Item 4
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Changes to Services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd
using the ‘Teckal’ Procurement Exemption
Report of the Head of Service - Waste
1.0

Purpose of Report:

1.1

To report to Business and Environmental Services (BES) Executive Members and the
Assistant Director Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services (TECS) of proposed
changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd through a directly awarded contract
using the ‘Teckal’ procurement exemption.

1.2

To inform BES Executive Members and the Assistant Director TECS of the mechanisms by
which those changes are to be implemented.

1.3

To seek the necessary approvals to implement the changes and vary the services contract
with Yorwaste Ltd.

2.0

Background

2.1

Services Contract

2.1.1

On 18 March 2014, the County Council Executive agreed:

The principle of awarding relevant contracts for future waste services to Yorwaste Ltd
without competitive procurement, where the conditions for the Teckal exemption are
satisfied.

To delegate authority to the Corporate Director (BES) to determine which future
waste service contracts are to be awarded to Yorwaste Ltd.

2.1.2

To be able to use the Teckal exemption, Yorwaste Ltd has to satisfy three tests:

The first is that the Contracting Authorities who are the shareholders of the company
must exercise the same level of control over the company as they do over their own
departments. North Yorkshire County Council (“NYCC”) and City of York Council
(“CYC”) are the shareholders of the company and collectively have more than 50% of
the voting members on the board;

The second is that a minimum of 80% of the turnover of the company must be
generated from work delivered to its shareholders (the 80:20 rule); and

The third is that there is no direct private capital participation in the company.

2.1.3

On 18 September 2015, NYCC and Yorwaste Ltd entered into a contract (“the Services
Contract”) for the provision of waste management services utilising Teckal exemption. CYC
and Yorwaste Ltd entered into separate services contracts at the same time. The individual
services being provided are detailed in a series of schedules to the Services Contract
(“Schedule”), each Schedule setting out the specification in relation to each service. The
addition or removal of services is practically achieved by varying the agreement to add or
remove Schedule(s).

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/1

Page 3

2.1.4

A collaboration agreement was entered into between NYCC, CYC and Yorwaste on 18
September 2015 (the “Collaboration Agreement”). This provides the mechanism for
collaboration in respect of waste activities across North Yorkshire and beyond. Additional
Contracting Authorities wishing to join the collaboration are able to accede to the
Collaboration Agreement using the process set out within the agreement. The service is
then provided by the Teckal compliant company via either of the Authorities through the
collaboration.

2.1.5

On 1 April 2020, Harrogate Borough Council entered into a Collaboration Agreement with
NYCC, CYC and other Partner Organisations to allow NYCC to deliver waste management
services on their behalf. These services are delivered through “the Services Contract”
between NYCC and Yorwaste Ltd. Yorwaste are currently providing green waste and DMR
processing through the Services Contract.

2.1.6

There is a potential conflict of interest in relation to the fact that the Corporate Director of
Business and Environmental Services (BES) is also a Director of Yorwaste Ltd. For this
reason, any Council decisions made in relation to Yorwaste Ltd were delegated to the
Assistant Director, Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services on 15 March 2022.

2.2

Contract Schedules

2.2.1

Bulky Waste
The seven borough and district councils in North Yorkshire deliver a number of services in
their role as Waste Collection Authorities (“WCAs”), including the collection of bulky waste
from householders’ properties. Bulky waste includes items such as sofas and mattresses,
large appliances and furniture.

2.2.2

Traditionally, the WCAs have carried out bulky waste collection services ‘in house’ or have
sought a contractor to deliver the service on their behalf. Harrogate Borough Council
(“HBC”) are currently outsourcing this service to a third party contractor and for propose for
NYCC to appoint Yorwaste to discharge this function within the Service Contract with
Yorwaste.

2.2.3

Yorwaste will be responsible for the collection of items from householder properties, and
will deliver them to an NYCC nominated delivery point, which will be either be a household
waste recycling centre or a waste transfer station. HBC will facilitate the booking and
payment from householders.

2.2.4

Skip Service
HBC currently locate containers such as skips, at depots (a “Collection Point”) for the
bulking up wastes such as sweepings and general waste before transporting to a disposal
facility (a “Delivery Point”). HBC are currently outsourcing the transport element of this
service to a third party contractor. The disposal of this waste is the responsibility of NYCC
as a WDA. HBC propose for NYCC to appoint Yorwaste to collect waste from Collection
Points and transport to Delivery Points as arranged by NYCC in their role as Waste
Disposal Authority by a new Service Contract.

2.2.5

The Services Contract would require development of bespoke schedules for a bulky waste
and skip service, to deliver the services required by HBC.

3.0

Benefits of the services being delivered under a Collaboration Agreement

3.1

Benefits to NYCC include:

3.1.1

The certainty and control that go with delivering services through a company owned by the
Council;
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/2

Page 4

3.1.2

Contributions to NYCC contract management overheads; and

3.1.3

Increasing the 80% public sector work enabling Yorwaste to increase the 20% share of the
business

3.1.4 The awarding of this work to Yorwaste will help smooth the transition when local
government reorganisation occurs. As the continuing authority, NYCC’s contract with
Yorwaste will continue uninterrupted without the requirement to novate a contract.
3.2

Benefits to HBC include:

3.2.1

No requirement to carry out a procurement exercise;

3.2.2

Better flexibility on changes to their service; and

3.2.3

The householder will not see any change in the collection of their bulky waste.

3.3

Benefits to Yorwaste Ltd include:

3.3.1

The introduction of new services which they are currently not undertaking for the WCAs,
allowing them to expand the range of services which they currently offer;

3.3.2

Reduces the risk of losing work to sector competition; and

3.3.3

Longer term guarantee of services to allow longer term strategic investments in fleet to be
considered and staff security in post.

4.0

Legal Implications

4.1

Yorwaste Ltd is a ‘Teckal’ company meaning that contracts are permitted to be directly
awarded to it without the need for a procurement exercise by its owning Authorities. The
award of the additional services by NYCC on behalf of HBC to Yorwaste Ltd are therefore
in accordance with Regulation 12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the “2015
Regulations”).

4.2

In accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, a procurement Gateway 3
report was signed on 11 September 2015 to record the decision to award the Services
Contract. This variation to the Services Contract will require a Gate 4(a) Contract
Extension / Variation report under the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

There are no procurement costs using the proposed approach.

5.2

The charges will be passed to HBC from NYCC so there will be no direct impact on NYCC.
There will however be a benefit to NYCC as increased services delivered by Yorwaste to
HBC will reduce NYCC’s proportion of fixed charges at waste transfer stations.

5.3

Yorwaste Ltd are currently required under the Services Contract to show value for money in
all services that they currently deliver on behalf of the Council. All three parties will monitor
the new Schedules against a range of agreed performance indicators to ensure value for
money is being delivered.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/3

Page 5

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

There are no impacts on any of the protected characteristics for equalities as a result of the
matters discussed in this report. An Equalities Impact Assessment screening form is
attached at Appendix A.

7.0

Climate Change Implications

7.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment has been completed, and concluded that Yorwaste
managing the services would potentially reduce emissions from travel due to their current
operations within Harrogate District and the location of their Waste Transfer Station at
Harewood Whin. The form is attached at Appendix B.

8.0

Summary

8.1

On 18 March 2014 the Council’s Executive agreed the principle of awarding relevant
contracts for future waste services to Yorwaste Ltd without competitive procurement, where
the conditions for the Teckal exemption are satisfied.

8.2

On 18 September 2015 the Council and Yorwaste Ltd entered into the Services Contract for
the provision of waste management services, for a 10 year period with two 5 year
extensions, following a period of work undertaken to ensure that the company met the
conditions of the Teckal Exemption.

8.3

On 1 April 2020 HBC entered into a Collaboration Agreement with NYCC, CYC and other
Partner Organisations to deliver economic and well-being benefits in their respective areas
in relation to waste management.

8.4

This report seeks a decision to incorporate waste management services into the Services
Contract to enable HBC to access the Services Contract using a collaboration agreement,
as agreed in principle by the Executive.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

That BES Executive Members and the Assistant Director TECS note the contents of the
report.

9.2

That the Assistant Director TECS, in consultation with BES Executive Members, agrees the:

Addition of two new Schedules to the Services Contract between NYCC and
Yorwaste Ltd to deliver the provision of a bulky waste collection and skip service.

9.3

Implementation of the decision is subject to the necessary Gate 4a document being
completed as described in paragraph 4 of the report.

Peter Jeffreys
Head of Service - Waste
Author of Report: Joanne Kearney
Background documents: None

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/4

Page 6

Appendix A
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality to
a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or
proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened
Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Why are you proposing this? What are
the desired outcomes?

Business and Environmental Services
Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Changes to Yorwaste Services Contract
Joanne Kearney
To obtain approval to vary the Yorwaste Services
Contract to add new Schedules to the to deliver a
bulky waste collection from Householders properties
and collection and transportation of waste to a
delivery point, to Harrogate Borough Council
The decision to migrate waste management
services to Yorwaste Ltd using an exemption from
procurement regulations was agreed by Executive in
March 2014.
These are the next parts in delivering this change.
No

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal of
resources? Please give details.
Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by the
Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?

If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact or you
have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried out where this
is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for advice if you are in any
doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse impact
No

Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known

Yes

Don’t know/No
info available

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
No

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/5

Page 7

Appendix A
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding criteria,
etc.). Do any of these organisations
support people with protected
characteristics? Please explain why you
have reached this conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

No

EIA not
X
Continue to full
relevant or
EIA:
proportionate:
The decision is being taken to complete a contract
award process.

Peter Jeffreys
03/05/22

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/6

Page 8

Appendix B

Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Version 2: amended 11 August 2021

Page 9

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Changes to Yorwaste Services Contract
To obtain approval to vary the Yorwaste Services Contract to add, where required,
new Schedules to the to deliver bring banks and dry mixed recyclables reception,
transport and processing services to Harrogate Borough Council
Business and Environmental Services
Transport, Environment and Countryside Services
Peter Jeffreys
Joanne Kearney, Waste Management
May 2022
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/7

Appendix B
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
No
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The proposed new schedules being added to the Services Contract will be a cost to HBC rather than NYCC.

Page 10
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/8

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Page 11

Minimise
greenhouse gas
emissions e.g.
reducing emissions
from travel,
increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from travel

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

The change to Yorwaste will have a
positive impact as Yorwaste will be
working from a depot within 3 miles of
Harrogate Borough area.

N/A.

N/A

The waste hierarchy is already
considered as part of the service
delivered

N/A

Continue to
encourage separation
of wastes and
recycling /reuse

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

Appendix B

x

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Emissions
from data
storage
Other
Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g.
reducing use of single use plastic

x

Reduce water consumption

x

x

x

x

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/9

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

Appendix B

Page 12

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

x

Ensure resilience to the effects
of climate change e.g. reducing
flood risk, mitigating effects of
drier, hotter summers

x

Enhance conservation and
wildlife

x

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

x

Other (please state below)

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/10

Appendix B
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.
N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The change in contractor of these services to Yorwaste will potentially reduce travel distances as Yorwaste already operate within Harrogate
district and operate a waste transfer station on the district boundary.

Page 13

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Joanne Kearney
Waste Contracts Manager
Transport, Environment and Countryside Services
BES
Joanne Kearney
May 2022

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Michael Leah
Date: 13/05/2022

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – BES Executive Members
Changes to services to be delivered by Yorwaste Ltd using the Teckal procurement exemption/11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Opposed Footpath No. 25.121/048
Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft, Diversion Order 2021
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
an opposed Public Path Diversion Order for a footpath in the parish of Hartoft,
Ryedale. A location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The proposal is shown
in detail on Plan 2.

1.2

To request the Corporate Director BES, in consultation with the BES Executive
Members authorises the opposed diversion order be referred to the Secretary of
State and that the Authority supports the confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director of Transport, Environment and Countryside Services, to decide whether to
abandon an opposed Diversion Order where the Authority is of the opinion that the
requirements to confirm the Order may not be met and where an Inspector appointed
by the Secretary of State may decline to confirm the Order, or to recommend to the
Corporate Director BES, in consultation with the BES Executive Members Services
that the Order be referred to an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State.

3.0

The Application

3.1

The application to divert the footpath was submitted to the County Council in May
2020.

3.2

The reasons given for the application were to divert the footpath away from the
immediate vicinity of Scugdale Cottage, to improve privacy, and security.

4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

Under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, the County Council, having consulted
any other local authority, may divert a public right of way (PROW) where it appears to
the Authority that in the interests of the owner of the land crossed by the PROW
described in the Order, it is expedient that the line of the PROW should be diverted,
and that the diversion would not be substantially less convenient to the public.

4.2

The County Council charges applicants for the costs incurred in the
processing/making of Diversion Orders, as provided for by the Local Authorities
(Recovery of Costs for Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993 (S.I. 1993/407),
amended by regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Charges for Overseas Assistance
and Public Path Orders) Regulations 1996 (S.I. 1996/1978).
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 15Opposed Diversion
Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 1

OFFICIAL

4.3

Where an Order is opposed, the County Council cannot confirm the Order; it can only
be confirmed by the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State will confirm an Order
if he/she is satisfied that:
i)
in the interests of the landowner it is expedient to divert the footpath, and
ii)
the diversion will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of
the Order, and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the
effect which:
(a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the route as a whole;
(b) the coming into operation of the Order would have, as respects other land
served by the existing public right of way; and
(c) any new public right of way created by the Order would have, as respects
the land over which the right is created and any land held with it.

5.0

The Making of the Order

5.1

An informal consultation was carried out and an objection was received from the local
Ramblers representative.

5.2

A report was submitted to the Assistant Director, Travel, Environmental &
Countryside Services and it was determined that a Diversion Order should be made.

5.3

The Diversion Order was made on 22 December 2021 and was duly advertised.

5.4

During the Formal Consultation 1 objection was received,
i)
From the Local Ramblers representative:


Objection 1
Footpath 25.121/048 is one of a pair of paths that have been recorded on OS
maps for over a hundred years. The other path leaves the Rosedale to Cropton
road at the gate at SE 7492 9328, goes south west to SE 7480 9341 and then
joins 25.121/048 at SE 7479 9318. Scugdale Cottage is served by an access
track from the Rosedale to Cropton road. The existing footpath gradually
comes down a grassy slope from point B on the plan to join the cottage access
track at SE 7479 9318.
Officer Comment.
The fact that the footpath has been recorded on OS maps for over a hundred
years is no barrier to the owners seeking a Public Right of Way diversion under
the 1980 Highway Act.



Objection 2
The footpath then follows the track, passing to the right of the cottage. The
building to the right of the footpath appears to be a garage; the path does not
pass between residential buildings and it is therefore unlikely that footpath
users cause significant inconvenience to those living in the cottage. It is not
unusual to encounter rights of way close to residential property, and the
Ramblers’ Association does not consider this footpath to be especially
intrusive. The garage has been built quite recently and, in consequence,
passers-by now have to walk nearer to the house than was previously the case.
This outcome would have been apparent when the location of the garage was
decided.
Officer Comment.
The sense of privacy and security can only be articulated by the owner who
lives at the premises. The distance between the house and the footpath has
been measured as 2.5 metres. The siting of the garage has no impact on the
current route of the footpath. Having a public right of way 2.5 metres distant
from the house, which has a downstairs bedroom and bathroom, would be
likely to impact upon both privacy and security. (Photograph 1).

Page 16
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 2



Objection 3
The proposed diversion requires the addition of four pedestrian gates, whereas
there are none on the historic right of way, apart from a gate on the access
track to Scugdale Cottage.
Officer Comment.
There are currently two structures on the existing footpath; a pedestrian gate
into the curtilage of Scugdale Cottage (Photograph 1), and a stile where the
footpath leaves the access track. (Photograph 2). The proposed route includes
four structures in the form of pedestrian gates at Points C,E,F and G, for the
purposes of stock control.



Objection 4
The diverted route from point B to point F is on grass and almost flat. However,
the consequence of maintaining height between B and F is that the other end of
the diverted path becomes steep. Specifically, the section from C to D is
unacceptably steep and dangerous; the provision of steps between C - D - E
might reduce danger to walkers, but would nevertheless restrict access. The
proposed route crosses a beck emanating from a spring and the ground is
muddy for most of the year. Substantial work would be needed to bring this
route to an acceptable standard and, importantly, regular and frequent
maintenance would be required thereafter.
Officer Comment.
The owner has agreed to pay for works on the section between Points C to D,
to bring the route up to the required standard, and which will reduce the
gradient, by culverting the spring. The proposed diversion lies within the North
York Moors National Park and they have already agreed that steps can be
installed, if needed after the spring is culverted, and they will cover any ongoing
maintenance required. Steps are not unusual within the National Park, to
improve a Public Rights of Way. Culverting the spring will also resolve the
current muddy surface (Photographs 3 and 4).



Objection 5
However, even if the path were adequately maintained, the steepness of this
section would make the route substantially less convenient to footpath users
and would impair public enjoyment of the path.
Officer Comment.
This route is not close to a village and lies partly on a hillside where the
surrounding landscape consists of steep wooded slopes and escarpments
interspersed with undulating terrain. The proposed new route crosses terrain
typical of this part of the North York Moors and does not represent anything out
of the ordinary for this area which might challenge any walker who would
choose this landscape to walk in.



Objector’s summary
The Ramblers’ Association therefore objects to the proposed diversion on the
grounds that it would be substantially less convenient to footpath users and
would impair public enjoyment of the path.

6.0

Representation made by the local member

6.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Diversion Order.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The opposed Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the SoS, and,
as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written representations.
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 17Opposed Diversion
Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 3

OFFICIAL

7.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Order. If he/she decides to confirm the Order, the
routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and Statement in accordance with the
details within the Order.

8.0

Financial implications

8.1

If the opposed Order were to be submitted to the SoS, the Order would most likely be
resolved by written representations, or possibly a Public Inquiry.

8.2

There would be a non-rechargeable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to
the SoS and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be for
officer time, which would be met by the respective staffing budgets. If the Inspector
chose to hold a Public Inquiry, the costs of arranging, hosting and supporting the
Inquiry would fall to the Council. These costs would be unlikely to exceed £1.000.

9.0

Equalities Implications

9.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

10.0

Climate Change Implications

10.1

The proposal is merely to re-align the status of a route already recorded as a public
footpath within the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this Order would
have no positive or negative impact on climate change.

11.0

Current Decision to be made

11.1

The decisions to be made at this stage are, firstly, whether the Order is to be
abandoned, or is to be forwarded to the SoS for resolution.

11.2

Secondly, if it is decided that the matter is to be forwarded to the SoS then a further
decision will need to be made, namely which stance the authority would take within
its submission to the SoS towards the confirmation of the Order; that is the Authority
needs to decide if it:

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes that the Order should not be confirmed,

considers the circumstances are so finely balanced, or are particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

12.0

Conclusions

12.1

In conclusion, the application for the Diversion Order was made to increase privacy
and security of the property. It is felt that the Diversion Order meets the legal tests
outlined in Para. 4.1 above, and has been made in the interests of the applicant. It is
considered that the proposed route is not substantially less convenient for the public
and that therefore there is no reason for the Authority to abandon the Order, or
oppose confirmation of the Order.

12.2

The objection to the Order outlines a number of issues however it is felt that overall
the objections are not sufficient to prevent the confirmation of the Order.

Page 18
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 4

13.0

Recommendation

13.1

It is therefore recommended that the Corporate Director BES, in consultation with
the BES Executive Members authorises the opposed Diversion Order be referred to
the Secretary of State and that within the submission the Authority supports the
confirmation of the Order.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Author of report: Claire Phillips
Background papers: File Ref RYE-2020-01-DO

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 19Opposed Diversion
Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 5

OFFICIAL

Location Plan

Page 20
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 6

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 21Opposed Diversion
Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 7

OFFICIAL

Photograph 1 – Existing footpath - To the south east of Point A, pedestrian gate into the
curtilage of Scugdale Cottage and the footpath runs 2.5 metres to the left of the corner of the
Cottage, shown in the background.

Photograph 2 – Existing footpath – Looking south east where the existing footpath leaves
the driveway and runs up a gradient, towards Point B in front of woodland, with stile.

Page 22
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 8

Photograph 3 - Proposed footpath - Looking north west to Point C and Point A, showing
gradient.

Photograph 4 – Proposed footpath Point D - Looking north west to the spring, which will be
culverted and steps installed if needed, to reduce the gradient.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 23Opposed Diversion
Order Scugdale Cottage, Hartoft / 9

OFFICIAL

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Opposed Public Footpath 25.114/9, Back Lane, Wrelton
Modification Order 2012 – Pins Proposed Amendment to Order
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES) and
BES Executive Members of developments relating to the opposed Definitive Map
Order currently being considered by the Secretary of State. A location plan is
attached to this report as Plan 1. The route is shown on Plan 2.

1.2

To request that the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Access, to authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) will take a neutral
stance to the Secretary of State’s proposal to modify the status of the route within
the Order from public footpath to restricted byway.

2.0

Background

2.1

The route, known locally as Back Lane, runs from Wrelton Lane to Wrelton Cliff
Road, in Wrelton and is not recorded on the definitive map.

2.2

The DMMO application to record Back Lane as a public footpath was made in 2007,
in response to a local landowner challenging public use of the route.

2.3

The DMMO was supported by 76 user evidence forms: 9 were submitted with the
application and a further 68 were provided by the Parish Council. A total of 20 forms
were rejected as being incomplete or not relevant, leaving a total of 57 supporting
forms. No historical documents were submitted with the application.

2.4

The evidence was supporting of use by the public at large on foot, with some use on
bicycle, horseback and by vehicle, and that use had been continuous through the
relevant time-period (20 years preceding the date of the DMMO application).

2.5

Following the pre-order consultation and examination of the evidence, it was
considered that a DMMO should be made to record it on the Definitive Map and
Statement as a public footpath.

2.6

Attached to this report as Appendix 1 is a copy of the report submitted to the
Planning and Regulatory Committee on 13 January 2012, in which the case for
making a Definitive Map Modification Order was outlined. The Committee authorised
the making of a DMMO.

2.7

The Order was made on 10 April 2012 and advertised on 9 May 2012, attracting two
objections. The County Council cannot confirm a DMMO where there are
outstanding objections; the Order must be forwarded to the Secretary of State for
resolution.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 1

Page 25

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

2.8

The Order and associated objections were referred to the Secretary of State in
August 2019 and subsequently the Planning Inspectorate directed the County
Council to re-advertise the Order to ensure that the statutory notification period
requirements were sufficiently satisfied.

2.9

The Order was re-advertised on 12 February 2020 and three objections were
received: Two of the objections were made on the grounds that no public rights
exists over the order route and therefore it should not be recorded as a public right of
way of any sort. The other objection was made on the grounds that the evidence
suggested that the order route carries higher rights than that of footpath and it should
therefore be recorded as a Bridleway or Restricted Byway.

2.10

The Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State proposed to determine the order
through the written representations procedure and accompanied site visit. Following
the accompanied site visit, the Inspector proposed to confirm the Order subject to
modification to record the route as a Restricted Byway.

2.11

The Notice of proposal to modify the DMMO was published by the Planning
Inspectorate on 17 November 2021.

2.12

The County Council did not make a formal response to the proposed amendment to
the Order.

3.0

Responses to the Proposed Modification

3.1

The Planning Inspectorate received one objection and three representations to the
proposed modification.

3.2

The objection was made on the grounds that the order contains flaws and deviates
from the relevant legislation, that the advertising process may have been flawed, and
that there may be additional evidence not previously considered by the Inspector.
Officer comment
The objector commented on the position of the sealing page contained in the 2012
order, pointing out that Regulations describe that the seal should be placed
immediately prior to the schedules. The OMA is aware of this. Many of the
Authority’s Orders were presented with the seal after the schedules and plan, in the
past, but rights of way orders have been correctly drafted in line with the relevant
regulations for many years once the error was noted internally, and immediately
acted upon. It is suspected that this error would not be considered fatal to an order.
It is accepted that the Notice on the northern end of the route could have been better
located, however the other Notice on the route was plain to see. Notices also
appeared in the local press, and were provided to the Parish Council to display within
the village and the matter would have been discussed at the Parish Council meeting,
so there was plenty of opportunity for local awareness of the content of the Notice.

3.3

Two of the representations were from user groups in support of the proposed
modification. The third representation was from a resident in Holly Close, enquiring
about the potential impact on parking.
Officer comment
Representatives from the British Horse Society and the Byways and Bridleways Trust
expressed support for the proposed modification.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members

Page
26 - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 2
Opposed DMMO
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

The resident of Holly Close raised concerns about the potential impact on parking
spaces in the Close, and the potential impact of motor vehicles using the order route.
The case officer subsequently provided the resident with advice on the matter.
3.4

The OMA remained satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to support pedestrian
rights and is aware that the evidence for higher rights is less clear.

3.5

At the request of the objector, the Inspectorate is to hold a local Hearing in order to
consider the objections to the Inspector’s intention to confirm the Order to add a
restricted byway to the Definitive Map rather than a public footpath. The hearing is to
be held at Wrelton Village Hall on 22 July 2022.

4.0

Evidence in support of the Order

4.1

The Inspector made the decision to modify the order to Restricted Byway based on
examination of the available documentary and user evidence, and on the
accompanied site visit. Although Officers are of the view that the evidence of higher
rights than those of public footpath is not conclusive, Officers do not disagree with
the Inspector’s interpretation of the evidence, or his decision to modify the order.

5.0

Representation made by the local member

5.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the proposed modified order.

6.0

Equalities

6.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

7.0

Financial implications

7.1

The opposed Modification Order is to be determined by an Inspector appointed by
the SoS, by a local Hearing, as stated above in 3.5.

7.2

There will be a non-rechargeable cost to the Authority responding to any queries
raised by the SoS, and for arranging, hosting, attending and supporting the Hearing.
The costs would be largely for officer time which would be met by the respective
staffing budgets. The costs to the Authority of a Hearing are unavoidable but are
unlikely to exceed approximately £1,000.

8.0

Equalities implications

8.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any equality impacts arising from
the recommendations. It is considered that the outcome would have no impact on
the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

9.0

Legal implications

9.1

The opposed modified Modification Order is to be determined by the Inspector
appointed by the SoS, following the Hearing as stated in 3.5. It is unlikely that he will
now decide not to confirm the Order, so it is most probable that the Order will be
confirmed with, or without, the proposed changes, meaning that the route will be
added to the Definitive Map as either a restricted byway, or a public footpath,
respectively.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 3

Page 27

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

9.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and legal criteria, will decide whether or
not to confirm the opposed modified Modification Order. If he decides to confirm the
Order as modified, the route would be added to the Definitive Map and Statement in
accordance with the details within the Modification Order.

10.0

Climate change implications

10.1

The confirmation of this order would have no positive or negative impact on climate
change.

11.0

Current decisions to be made

11.1

When an Inspector proposes to modify an Order, the County Council needs to
express whether, on the basis of available evidence, it:

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance

11.2

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
the Inspector’s decision to modify the Modification Order.

12.0

Conclusion

12.1

The 2012 Order was made to record a public footpath and was based on the
available evidence. The County Council considers that whilst there is some evidence
in support of the existence of bridleway or restricted byway rights, the evidence is
less conclusive and therefore intends to take a neutral stance on the proposed
modification.

12.2

Advice was sought from the Planning Inspectorate on the expectation the
Inspectorate has of the Order Making Authorities in these circumstances, and it was
confirmed that the Inspectorate acknowledged that Order Making Authorities may not
wish to comment on proposed amendments to Orders, and therefore that they may
prefer to take a neutral stance to any changes proposed by the Inspector.

13.0

Recommendation

13.1

It is therefore recommended that:
Members note the current circumstances regarding this DMMO, and authorise that
within the forthcoming Hearing the Authority takes a neutral stance to the
amendment proposed by The Planning Inspectorate.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director - Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Author of report: Andrew Hunter, Definitive Map Officer.
Background papers: File Ref RYE/2007/02/DMMO

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members

Page
28 - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 4
Opposed DMMO
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 5

Page 29

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members

Page
30 - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 6
Opposed DMMO
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 7

Page 31

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members

Page
32 - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 8
Opposed DMMO
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 9

Page 33

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 10

Page 34

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 11

Page 35

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 12

Page 36

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 13

Page 37

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
Opposed DMMO - Back Lane, Wrelton – PINS Proposed Amendment / 14

Page 38

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 7
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project
Report of the Assistant Director – Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to set out:

An overview of the Yorkshire Green application.

The Consenting Regime

The County Council’s involvement in the project to date

The County Council’s working relationship with the District Councils

1.2

Also that the Business and Environmental Services (BES) Executive Member for
Open for Business authorises the BES Corporate Director to authorise the Local
Impact Report, the Statement of Common Ground and further representations in
response to questions from the Examining Authority on behalf of the County Council
in relation to the proposal.

2.0

The Project

2.1

The project is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIPs) due to size and
nature (power generation). In recent years the County Council has dealt with NSIP
applications at Eggborough and Drax power station sites and there are currently 5
such applications within the County boundary being considered at the pre-application
stage.

2.2

The planning application will take the form of a Development Consent Order (DCO)
which will be determined by the Secretary of State. The District Council in which the
projects sit are the relevant planning authority for the discharge of the planning
requirements within the DCO. North Yorkshire County Council is the Highways
Authority and will be a consultee. The final decision however as to whether to grant
permission for development lies with the Secretary of State.

2.3

National Grid Electricity Transmission is proposing to upgrade and reinforce the
electricity transmission system in Yorkshire, spanning three local authority areas in
our area; Selby, Harrogate and Hambleton Districts. This reinforcement is needed to
improve the transfer of clean energy across the country.

2.4

Power flows are set to double within the next ten years as new low carbon energy
generation from onshore wind energy projects in Scotland, offshore wind projects in
the North Sea and subsea cables to other countries connect to the network. The
Yorkshire GREEN proposal aims to allow this energy to flow securely and efficiently
on the network, balancing and maintaining supply and demand. It will link two existing
overhead transmission lines, allowing additional energy to flow north to south. This
will increase network capacity and flexibility.

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
PageYorkshire
39 Green Energy
Enablement (GREEN) Project/1

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

2.5

The Yorkshire GREEN application proposes both construction of new infrastructure
and works to existing transmission infrastructure and facilities. An overall location
plan of the Yorkshire GREEN Project (taken from National Grid Electricity
Transmission’s Statutory Consultation Documents) is included within Appendix A.

2.6

The proposed new infrastructure includes:

A new 400kV overhead line will connect into the existing overhead line with two
sealing end compounds and a short section of underground cable in the north
west of York.

This line runs south, connecting into a new substation, called Overton
substation, located approximately 1km south of Shipton-by-Beningbrough.

Two new 275kV overhead lines will be routed south out of Overton substation
and connect into the existing 275kV overhead line.

Two new cable sealing end compounds and short sections of underground
cables located south-west of Tadcaster.

A new substation located adjacent to and connecting into the existing
substation at Monk Fryston, south-west of Monk Fryston.

2.7

Works to existing infrastructure are proposed to include:

A section of overhead line between the two new 275kV overhead lines will be
permanently removed.

Replacement of some pylons and realignment of the existing overhead line will
take place in two locations – to the south and south-east of Moor Monkton and
where the existing overhead lines enter Monk Fryston substation.

Replacement of overhead line conductors (wires), replacement of pylon fittings,
strengthening of steelwork and works to pylon foundations.

Minor works at the existing Osbaldwick substation.

2.8

Construction is expected to start in Q3 2024 and be completed by Q3 2028.

3.0

Application Timescale

October–
December
2021

Statutory Consultation – Timely consultation took place at the end of last year
with discussions on outcomes.
North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) did not raise any issues that that
would result in a form of objection.

December
2021–Winter
2022

Consideration of feedback – The applicant will review feedback from the
statutory consultation, finalise the Project and continue engagement prior to
submission of the DCO application.

Winter 2022

Application submission – The applicant’s plan to submit the DCO application
to the Planning Inspectorate in winter 2022. The Planning Inspectorate, on
behalf of the Secretary of State, has up to 28 days to decide whether or not the
application meets the standards required to be accepted for examination.
Examination – If the application is accepted, it will go through a six-month
examination period. Prior to this period, stakeholders can register with the
Planning Inspectorate to become an Interested Party by making a Relevant
Representation.

Winter 2022–
Winter/Spring
2023

Interested Parties are invited to provide more details of their views in writing
during this phase. Consideration is given by the Examining Authority, including
all relevant representations, and supporting evidence. North Yorkshire County
Council will use this opportunity to raise the issues it considers most pertinent
to the examination.
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Page 40
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/2

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

4.0

Joint Working with District Councils, Local Government Reorganisation and
the Planning Performance Agreement

4.1

The scheme spans different Local Authority areas, some more significantly affected
than others. NYCC and and the three district councils (Harrogate Borough and Selby
and Hambleton) are entering into a Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) with the
applicant. The main purpose of the PPA will be funding to resource the application
on a basic time cost reimbursement basis. Where a specific lack of resources has
been identified, for example in landscape and visual assessment, the County Council
will work with the applicant to secure funding to procure outside resource to deliver
that work.

4.2

Consideration is being given to a joint local Impact Report and Statement of Common
Ground with the other Local Authorities involved in the project. At this point, officers
have agreed to work jointly where possible but must remain practical when
considering delegation, sign off and overall agreement with the tight timeframes of an
examination.

4.3

The timetable set out by the applicant provides for the DCO application to be
submitted towards the end of 2022. This would result in the 6 month examination
period spanning the vesting date for LGR.

4.4

The PPA will reference LGR and include and a clause concerning the continuation of
the agreement once the District Councils and the County Council cease to exist.

4.5

The County Council and the three District Councils will as far as possible submit joint
responses up until the date of LGR. This is the approach taken in NSIP applicants in
the past and is encouraged outside of the process of LGR. The Planning Inspectorate
are aware of the upcoming changes and the Examining Authority will be informed as
soon as one is appointed.

5.0

Delegation

5.1

Leading up to the submission of the application to the examiner there will be
significant resource implications for the County Council hence the PPA. Once
submitted the examination timetable is set, creating its own time pressure. Officers
have found it helpful in the past to have agreement of documents such as the Local
Impact Report and the Statement of Common Ground delegated to the Director for
Business and Environmental Services for authorization by the Executive Member for
Open for Business.

6.0

Equalities

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the recommendation. It is the view of officers that the recommendation
does not have an adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in
the Equalities Act 2010. The initial Equalities Impact Assessment form is attached at
Appendix B.

7.0

Finance

7.1

The financial implications for the County Council are limited to the staff time to
resource its engagement with the application. There are no other costs or risks
attached to the application. As in section 4 above, the County Council intends to
recoup the staffing costs on an hourly rate basis from the applicant. The PPA is still
being negotiated and it is likely that the applicant will not reimburse costs for tasks
that the County Council is required by statute to carry out, such as attendance at
certain hearings.
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
PageYorkshire
41 Green Energy
Enablement (GREEN) Project/3

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

7.2

In terms of discharging the requirements of the DCO that relate to the land within the
administrative boundary of North Yorkshire, fees will be payable to the District
Councils (or the new unitary council) as the relevant planning authority for the
purpose of the DCO. The County Council may also seek to agree appropriate
planning obligations, in conjunction with District Councils to address the impacts
referred to above, if considered necessary in planning terms.

7.3

In practical terms, the application is unlikely to be determined before vesting day
therefore any fees or current Local Planning Authority functions to be carried out in
relation to discharge of the application will fall to the new Unitary Council. As above,
the only cost to the Unitary Council will be staff resources. In past applications,
Planning Performance Agreements have been agreed to cover the cost of the
Councils post examination work load and such an agreement would be pursued in
this case.

8.0

Legal

8.1

The County Council is a Statutory Consultee and support for the scheme is subject to
agreeing the requirements in the DCO and section 106 Agreement if required.

8.2

The County Council will have further involvement in its role as Statutory Consultee
following submission of the application and during the examinations period, including
possible attendance at issue specific, and DCO public hearings.

8.3

The DCO and other legal documents will make reference and allow for Local
Government Re-organisation in relation to any of the above points where necessary..

9.0

Climate Change

9.1

The Application is not a County Council Scheme. A full Environmental Statement will
be prepared by the applicant and submitted as part of the application. Through the
application process Local Authority officers will respond on the scoping report and
the Preliminary Environmental Impact Report (PEIR) and finally the full
Environmental Statement. Our response to this will form a large part of our response
to the application. The climate change impact assessment is at Appendix C.

10.0

Recommendation(S)

10.1

It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and
a)
the County Council supports this NSIP Development Consent Order
application in principle, subject to agreement in relation to specific and
localised matters of detail;
b)
Also that the BES Executive Member for Open for Business authorises the
Corporate Director, BES to authorise the Local Impact Report, Impact Report,
the Statement of Common Ground and further representations in response to
questions from the Examining Authority on behalf of the County Council in
relation to the proposal.

Matt O’Neill
Assistant Director Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
Author of Report:

Michael Reynolds, Senior Policy Officer (Infrastructure)

Background Documents: None

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Page 42
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/4

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix A

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
PageYorkshire
43 Green Energy
Enablement (GREEN) Project/5

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Business and Environmental Services
Directorate
Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
Service area
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN)
Proposal being screened
Project
Officer(s) carrying out screening
Michael Reynolds
National Grid Electricity Transmission is
What are you proposing to do?
proposing to upgrade and reinforce the electricity
transmission system in Yorkshire, spanning three
local authority areas in our area; Selby,
Harrogate and Hambleton Districts. This
reinforcement is needed to improve the transfer
of clean energy across the country.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

The Yorkshire GREEN application proposes both
construction of new infrastructure and works to
existing transmission infrastructure and facilities.
This report seeks:
c) the County Council supports this NSIP
Development Consent Order application in
principle, subject to agreement in relation to
specific and localised matters of detail;
d) Also that the BES Executive Member for
Open for Business authorises the Corporate
Director, BES to authorise the Local Impact
Report, Impact Report, the Statement of
Common Ground and further representations
in response to questions from the Examining
Authority on behalf of the County Council in
relation to the proposal.
NYCC has a statutory role in the planning work
relating to a NSIP. The county has no reason to
object to the proposals and therefore is seeking
authorisation to express its support in principle.
The desired outcome is clarity to the Applicant
and to the other parties over the county council’s
role and position in regard to the application, and
to how items of work surrounding the application
will be undertaken.
NYCC resources will be met in part by applicant
under the proposed Planning Performance
Agreement.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Page 44
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/6

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix B
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact
or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried
out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for
advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse
impact
Yes
No

Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
Reason for decision

Don’t know/No
info available

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
No

No

EIA not
x
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The report asks for authorisation for technical
planning work to be undertaken within a clear
context. This will allow the application to be
developed further, in order that a planning
consent decision can be taken at some point in
the future.
The technical work will not of itself have any ‘on
the ground’ impact’. Therefore, it is not
considered that there will be any impact on any
of the people who fall within any of the
protected characteristic groups.

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

Matt O’Neill
27-05-2022

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
PageYorkshire
45 Green Energy
Enablement (GREEN) Project/7

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 46

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.
Title of proposal

Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project

Brief description of proposal

National Grid Electricity Transmission is proposing to upgrade and reinforce the
electricity transmission system in Yorkshire, spanning three local authority areas in our
area; Selby, Harrogate and Hambleton Districts. This reinforcement is needed to
improve the transfer of clean energy across the country.

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

The Yorkshire GREEN application proposes both construction of new infrastructure and
works to existing transmission infrastructure and facilities.
Business and Environmental Services
Growth Planning and Trading Standards
Michael Reynolds
27-05-2022
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/8

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
The proposal is put forward by National Grid Electricity Transmission. It is not an NYCC led project.

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
Resource implications on the Council will be covered by the proposed Planning Performance Agreement with the Applicant

Page 47
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/9

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Page 48

Minimise
greenhouse gas
emissions e.g.
reducing emissions
from travel,
increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Appendix C
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

Emissions
from travel
Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g.
reducing use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/10

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Appendix C
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

Page 49

Ensure resilience to the effects
of climate change e.g. reducing
flood risk, mitigating effects of
drier, hotter summers
Enhance conservation and
wildlife
Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape
Other (please state below)

NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/11

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
This is not a County Council Scheme.
The Application is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP).
A full Environmental Statement will be submitted as part of the application. Prior to submission the applicant will draft and consult upon the
Preliminary Environmental Impact Report. (PEIR)
County Council Officers together with officers from Richmondshire District Council have and will continue to engage with the application in
the following environmental areas which will include the completed project and construction impacts:

Page 50

Ecology and Biodiversity
Historic Landscape and Heritage
Landscape
Minerals and Waste Planning
Air Pollution
Noise Pollution
Light Pollution
Land Contamination
Impact upon the highway
Drainage and water impact
Wider climate change impact
Socio Economic Impacts
To date the County Council has submitted responses to the applicants scoping report and been engaged in technical meetings on some of
the above topic areas.
Following assessment of the application when it has been received the County Council officers will seek to impact the application through:
Change of the application itself
Development Consent Order requirements
Mitigation through S106 agreement
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/12

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Michael Reynolds
Senior Policy Officer (Infrastructure)
Growth Planning and Trading Standards
Business and Environmental Services
Michael Reynolds
13 May 2022

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature):
Date:

Page 51
NYCC - «date»- Executive Members
Yorkshire Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) Project/13

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
HM Government consultation on developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES) and BES
Executive Members of the Government consultation on developing the UK Emissions
Trading Scheme (UK ETS).

1.2

To seek approval for the response to the above consultation (included as Appendix A) on
behalf of the County Council to be submitted to UK Government.

2.0

Executive Summary

2.1

The UK Government, Scottish Government, Welsh Government and Northern Ireland
Executive are committed to meeting ambitious targets to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from across the UK economy. The Net Zero Strategy published in 2021
sets out policies and proposals for decarbonising all sectors of the UK economy to
meet net zero targets by 2050.

2.2

The UK ETS, introduced January 2021 following BREXIT, is a cap and trade scheme
with an annual reduction in the allowances cap to assist with achieving the UKs
decarbonisation targets. The UK ETS currently applies to energy intensive industries,
the power generation sector and aviation.

2.3

The consultation document sets out the scale and pace of decarbonisation needed to
achieve these targets, including a call for evidence as to whether the scope of the UK
ETS is extended to include waste incineration and Energy from Waste (EfW) plants,
including facilities such as Allerton Waste Recovery Park (AWRP). The closing date
for the consultation response is 17 June 2022. Draft responses to the consultation
are included as Appendix A of this report.

3.0

Key Implications of the Consultation

3.1

EfW is less carbon intense when compared to landfill. In 2019, EfW plants emitted
6.2MtCO2e representing ~1% of total UK emissions (landfills emitted 14.2MtCO2e).
If heat from the EfW process is utilised, EfW is an even better option. All
governments across the UK have policies in place to reduce the amount of waste
produced, increase recycling and reduce the amount of residual waste sent for
treatment. Whilst this will alter the composition of waste entering landfill or EfW in the
future, we need further improvements to achieve the net zero target.

Page 53

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/1

3.2

The proposed changes to the UK ETS may help raise the efficiency of conventional
EfW plants by incentivising more plants to supply heat (i.e. heat offtake), promote
pre-treatment of waste before it is incinerated to reduce fossil1 plastic in the waste
stream, or incentivise investment into Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) to reduce
CO2 emissions.

3.3

The current UK ETS proposals include some free allocation of carbon allowances to
try and mitigate the risk of carbon leakage (displacing greenhouse gas emissions to
other sectors or geographical areas such as sending material overseas to be
managed). The consultation is considering a phased approach to managing the free
allocation scheme.

3.4

Carbon allowances are traded fortnightly on the marketplace. The following graph
shows the price volatility between July 2021 and March 2022.

Figure 1 – Carbon prices Jul 21 – Mar 22
3.5

The carbon costs from the auction on 6th April 2022 were £69.37/tonne. Indicative
figures below show the potential cost of carbon emissions under the UK ETS. AWRP
is expected to process just over 278,000 tonnes of Contract Waste in 2022-23, which
could mean an increase of over £8.6m (shared 79:21 between NYCC and CYC) on
gate fees per annum (using 6th April auction prices) if EfWs were included in the UK
ETS.
Parameter
CO2 emission/tonne of
residual waste
% fossil component
Fossil co2 emission/tonne
residual waste

Value

Reference/comment

0.934
47.90%

Tolvik UK EFW stats (will vary depending
on waste composition)
WRAP 2017 composition figures

0.447

£/tonne CO2
£69.37
Traded price 6.4.2022
Cost/tonne
£31.04
Cost added to gate fee @ EFW
Table 1. Indicative carbon cost/tonne – provided by WIDP 28 April 2022
1

Some waste materials, including plastics, are made from fossil fuels (such as oil) and the carbon stored in
them is known as ‘fossil carbon’. It is important to understand if carbon in waste is biogenic or fossil in origin
as they are accounted for differently in terms of their contribution to global emissions.

Page 54

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/2

3.6

The proposed key responses to the UK ETS consultation are:

Implementation of the proposals in mid to late 2020’s does not recognise that
EfW feedstock will be changing at the same time due to major reforms such as
Extended Producer Responsibility, Deposit Return Scheme, Consistency of
Collections, and the Plastic Tax scheme.

Local authorities with long term contracts will need to assess any potential
contractual and financial impact, in particular, whether the change would result
in a Qualifying Change in Law. If so, the operator will seek to pass these costs
onto LAs. Increased gate fees may make EfW facilities uncompetitive in the
market place and impact overall revenues generated. It is not clear whether
there will be new burden funding to support the UK ETS.

The Council supports the goal of decarbonisation and moving towards net zero
carbon, however there is a lack of detail in the consultation around how
expanding the scope of the UK ETS to include EfW facilities will work in
practice and how unintended consequences such as driving more material to
landfill/export will be avoided.

Carbon pricing could incentivise waste operators and/or LAs to invest in
Carbon Capture, Usage and Storage (CCU&S) infrastructure and/ or heat
offtake, to reduce fossil carbon emissions. Government support for first of a
kind CCU&S at EfW facilities is to be welcomed, as is deployment at power
stations. However, a strategic view of the investment required could be
undertaken at an early stage, to ensure that carbon capture on a regional basis
rather than from a particular facility derives maximum benefit from
decarbonising technology.

4.0

Financial Implications

4.1

There are no financial implications for NYCC arising specifically from responding to
the consultation.

4.2

The Financial implications for NYCC of the proposed changes are not able to be
quantified at this stage as further detail is awaited as set out in the report but are
likely to be significant. It is expected that the proposed changes would lead to
increased costs for AWRP as operators of the facility. These costs may then be
passed on to the Authority through the Change in Law provisions within the Waste
PPP contract. Additional funding may be available to cover some of the additional
costs but at this time this is also unknown. AWRP currently processes third party
waste and there is no clear mechanism around how the costs of carbon for Local
Authority generated Contract Waste would be separately calculated and charged vs
that of third party material.

4.3

Increased third party gate fees to cover fossil carbon costs could make the facility
uncompetitive in the market. This has the potential to impact overall third party
revenues generated under the contract, which, providing that certain thresholds are
met, the Authority would receive a share of under the current contractual
arrangements.

4.4

A further report will be brought to Members setting out the financial implications for
the Authority once more information is known.

Page 55

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/3

4.5

The UK Governments have committed to various fiscal and policy support for
decarbonisation including a £315m Industrial Energy Transformation Fund. The
Government will continue to review whether the funding streams are sufficient to
support decarbonisation of the UK ETS sectors including whether there may be any
new burden funding available to Local Authorities for the effects of implementing the
UK ETS for EfWs.

5.0

Legal Implications

5.1

A number of proposals for the UK ETS are being considered in the consultation.
Once the Government has published the response to the consultation/call for
evidence, NYCC/CYC will undertake a detailed review of the legal implications of any
changes required for the AWRP contract.

5.2

There could be significant contractual and operational impacts for the AWRP contract
because of the inclusion of EfW in the UK ETS. Some of the areas of consideration
include:

Whether the changes proposed under the UK ETS could be considered as a
Qualifying Change in Law which was not foreseeable at the time of Financial
Close (October 2014). Changes to the AWRP contract would require
engagement with external financial, legal and technical advisors and depending
upon the scale and timeframe of the change, these costs could be significant.

Reporting requirements and Environmental Permit – it is not clear whether any
variations to the Environmental Permit would be required for AWRP and what
the monitoring, reporting and verification obligations of the UK ETS would be.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

The proposals are part of a consultation exercise and there is insufficient information
on which to base an Equalities Impact Assessment. It is unlikely that any proposed
changes to the UK ETS would have equalities impacts in the future.

7.0

Climate Change Implications

7.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment has been completed (at appendix 2 of the
report), and concluded that the inclusion of EFW in the UK ETS could help the UK
achieve its decarbonisation targets, however, a detailed assessment on the
contractual and operational implications for AWRP would need to be undertaken
once more detail is available from the Government.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

NYCC is supportive of decarbonisation of the economy overall, however there are
currently a number of policies and consultations which will materially impact the
waste collection and treatment/disposal regimes implemented by Local Authorities.

8.2

It is proposed that through the consultation responses we raise concerns that further
detail of implementation of the Resources & Waste Strategy consultations are
required from government prior to timeframes for a UK ETS including EfW being
considered. Implementation of levers such as the Extended Producer Responsibility
Scheme and plastic tax should help drive out our reliance on fossil-based plastics
and enable more material to be move up the waste hierarchy.

Page 56

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/4

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services
(BES) and BES Executive Members consider the issues raised by the ‘Developing
the UK Emissions Trading Scheme’ consultation.

9.2

It is recommended that the Corporate Director BES in consultation with BES
Executive Members approve the attached responses to the above consultations on
behalf of the County Council to be submitted to UK Government.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Authors of Report:
Peter Jeffreys – Head of Waste
Lisa Cooper – Commercial Manager, Waste
Background documents: None

Page 57

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/5

Appendix A
ETS consultation questions & draft responses
124) Do you agree with the proposed timing for when waste incineration and EfW
could be introduced into the UK ETS? (Y/N)
No, timing of the UK ETS needs to be reconsidered to enable implementation of changes to
the Environment Act relating to the DRS, EPR and Consistency consultations as these will
have significant impacts on EfW feedstock and fossil carbon in the future.
The timing of the consultation and proposed implementation also needs to be reviewed to
ensure it does not conflict with other policies and developments such as heat offtake and
CCUS projects.
It is not clear whether full net cost recovery of EPR would cover the costs of carbon trading
that will be introduced through the UK ETS. The plastics tax needs to work to drive out the
fossil plastic used by producers rather than pushing end disposal costs to Local Authorities
and Council tax payers (polluter pays principle)
125) For operators of waste incinerators, EfW plants, and local authorities (LAs),
please outline the steps that you will need to take, and the time required to prepare for
the expansion of the UK ETS to waste incineration and EfW.
LAs with long term contracts would have to assess any potential contractual and financial
impacts of the ETS, in particular, is there a Qualifying Change in Law? If so, the operator
would pass these costs onto LAs. Increased gate fees may make EfW facilities
uncompetitive in the market place and impact overall revenues generated. LAs may be
liable for the contractor’s lost Third Party Income and may miss out on income sharing if
carbon costs are prohibitive. It is not clear whether there will be new burden funding to
support the UK ETS, for example, who will bear the cost of any more onerous waste
sampling/monitoring/reporting requirements as a result of the ETS.
The detail of how the scheme will be implemented is not currently clear. Will there be a
number of applications per Authority area, or per EFW facility and who is responsible for
buying/trading of the allowances (the Local Authority or Contractor)? The consultation does
not specify how allowances will be allocated for facilities that treat local authority and third
party material.
The implementation of the other Environment Act changes will impact waste composition
and volumes and we require time to understand the potential impacts of an ETS for EFWs.
Some contracts may be at risk of being unable to meet Guaranteed Minimum Tonnages
requirements under their contracts. LAs may need to undertake more thorough waste
composition analysis to understand the biogenic and fossil fuel content of input material to
the EFW to determine what level of allowances may be required for the facility.
126) Do you agree that the UK ETS should be expanded to include waste incineration
and EfW? (Y/N) Please outline your reasoning, including alternative options for
decarbonisation of the sector outside of the UK ETS.
No, whilst we support the goal of decarbonisation and moving towards net zero carbon,
there is a lack of detail in the consultation around how expanding the scope of the UK ETS
to include EfW facilities will work in practice and how unintended consequences such as
driving more material to landfill/export will be avoided.
127) Do you agree that all types of waste incinerators should be included in the UK
ETS? (Y/N) If you believe certain incineration activities should be exempt, e.g.
NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/6

Page 58

Appendix A
incineration of hazardous or certain healthcare waste, please provide details and
specify which waste stream.
No, where incineration is required to destroy harmful pathogens e.g. hazardous healthcare
waste, this activity should be exempt from the ETS.
128) Do you believe ATT should be included in the UK ETS? (Y/N) What challenges
could arise as a result of including ATT, if any, that are different to conventional waste
incineration plants?
Yes unless it can be demonstrated that ATT are unable to be modified like conventional
incinerator plants.
129) Do you agree that the point of MRV obligation for the UK ETS should be placed
on the operators of waste incinerators and EfW plants? (Y/N) Please outline your
reasoning in as much detail as possible and provide evidence to support your views.
Yes, however this may amount to a Qualifying Change in Law under long term waste
contracts, LA’s would need to assess the potential costs and wider contractual impacts of
how this obligation would be delivered (i.e would Authority Notices of Change also be
required amending KPIs and contractual reporting requirements).
130) If the point of MRV obligation is placed on operators of waste plants, should
waste companies/operators or customers (either LAs or commercial and industrial
customers) be responsible for meeting compliance obligations? (Y/N) Please outline
your reasoning in as much detail as possible and provide evidence to support your
views.
No, the obligation for meeting compliance obligations should be placed on the plant
operators, who are best placed to demonstrate compliance by being responsible for MRV.
The cost of meeting monitoring, reporting and verification obligations or paying a carbon
price according to greenhouse gas emissions generated from LA waste is very likely to be
passed onto to Local Authorities through QCiL clauses embedded in long term contracts.
Contractual payment mechanisms would need revisiting and monthly/annual payment and
reporting processes may need to be amended.
131) Do you believe that the Small and Ultra Small Emitter schemes that are currently
available to eligible UK ETS participants should also be available to waste
incinerators and EfW plants? (Y/N) Please provide details including, where relevant,
whether your organisation is likely to be eligible for these schemes based on current
rules.
Yes if the incinerator meets the same requirements as the Small and Ultra Small Emitter
parameters.
132) Which MRV proposal do you believe should be implemented to determine the UK
ETS obligation for waste incinerators and EfW plants?
i) If Option A, please provide your views on which methods could be used, along with
any information on the practicality of their implementation and likely costs.
ii) If Option B, please provide your views on how these emissions factors should be
calculated, along with any information on the practicality of implementation and likely
costs.

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/7

Page 59

Appendix A
In your answer, please outline how frequently fossil emissions should be monitored under
both options and consider whether there are other suitable MRV options that we have not
identified.
Option B – most Local Authorities will be collecting broadly the same materials through the
consistency in collections obligations so material inputs/plant feedstock should be more
uniform. This option is also likely to be less costly than individual plant monitoring. Biogenic
fossil emissions are affected by the organic of waste, which is seasonal. Twice yearly
monitoring seems appropriate.
133) Do you believe that one of the MRV options proposed is more likely to lead to
perverse incentives (e.g. more waste diverted to landfill) or to unintended
consequences as a result of applying the UK ETS to waste incineration and EfW?
Please consider different scenarios and provide evidence to support your views
where possible.
It is difficult to determine whether option A or B could have unintended consequences. It may
be more beneficial to wait until the changes of the R&WS/Environment Act are implemented
as these should reduce both the biogenic and fossil waste in the waste stream. This may
mean that EfW plants have reduced emissions in the future. It would also make sense for
the UK ETS to include landfill operators who are responsible for greater CO2 emissions.
134) Do you believe any additional greenhouse gases, other than CO2, that are
emitted by EfW plants or incinerators, should be covered by the UK ETS? (Y/N) If so,
please provide details on which gases and how it could work in practice.
135) How would the application of an ETS to waste incineration and EfW impact
stakeholders (including operators of waste incinerators, operators of EfW plants, LAs,
consumers, customers)?
LAs with long term contracts would have to assess any potential contractual and financial
impacts of the ETS, in particular, is there a Qualifying Change in Law? If so, the operator
would pass these costs onto LAs. Increased gate fees may make EfW facilities
uncompetitive in the market place and impact overall revenues generated. LAs may be
liable for the contractor’s lost Third Party Income and may miss out on income sharing if
carbon costs are prohibitive. It is not clear whether there will be new burden funding to
support the UK ETS, for example, who will bear the cost of any more onerous waste
sampling/monitoring/reporting requirements as a result of the ETS.
The detail of how the scheme will be implemented is not currently clear. Will there be a
number of applications per Authority area, or per EFW facility and who is responsible for
buying/trading of the allowances (the Local Authority or Contractor)? The consultation does
not specify how allowances will be allocated for facilities that treat local authority and third
party material.
The implementation of the other Environment Act changes will impact waste composition
and volumes and we require time to understand the potential impacts of an ETS for EFWs.
Some contracts may be at risk of being unable to meet Guaranteed Minimum Tonnages
requirements under their contracts. LAs may need to undertake more thorough waste
composition analysis to understand the biogenic and fossil fuel content of input material to
the EFW to determine what level of allowances may be required for the facility.
It is likely that more material will be pre-treated/shredded and RDF material would be
exported. It is not clear whether there would be any impacts on residues or MRF rejects and
how these will be managed.
NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/8

Page 60

Appendix A

Commercial collections may be impacted as offtakers could potentially limit or put input
criteria on material to minimise processing of fossil based waste.
136) Could the introduction of a carbon price incentivise waste operators and/or LAs
to improve their operations or processes to reduce fossil waste being incinerated?
(Y/N) Please outline your reasoning in as much detail as possible and provide
evidence to support your views.
Yes, There needs to be detail around funding and the infrastructure for alternative treatment
methods for this type of material. Who would bear these costs? It would make sense to
give the changes from the Environment Act and R&WS time to embed to determine changes
to the waste stream prior to proposing carbon cost figures. It is very difficult to recover high
quality recyclates from residual waste. It is likely that Extended Producer Responsibility will
stimulate packaging producers to reduce fossil materials used in packaging in response to
their increased costs of disposal.
137) Could the introduction of a carbon price incentivise LAs to support households
to improve recycling practices? (Y/N) Please outline your reasoning in as much detail
as possible and provide evidence to support your views.
No. Need to implement R&WS changes and review waste streams in the future. Further
recycling would need investment in infrastructure and potentially collection methodologies,
which would impact costs and efficiencies of current recycling systems. Once Extended
Producer Responsibility is implemented, a carbon price will incentivise packaging producers
to reduce the amount of fossil materials used in packaging as the cost of disposal is picked
up by producers. LAs are already financially incentivised to encourage residents to recycle
and divert material from the residual waste stream. Increasing the costs of EfW would not
necessarily influence residents behaviour, but would be an additional financial burden on
LAs without funding opportunities.
138) Is there opportunity (in the medium-long term) for the carbon price to incentivise
waste operators and/or LAs to invest in carbon capture and storage infrastructure, to
reduce fossil carbon emissions? (Y/N) Please outline your reasoning in as much
detail as possible and provide evidence to support your views.
Yes. It depends on the value of the carbon prices and whether there will be any financial
support available for CCU projects/infrastructure. As stated in previous answers, LAs with
long term contracts are likely to be responsible for the cost of complying with carbon caps for
LA waste processed at EfW plants. However, operators commonly ‘top up’ waste flows by
sourcing their own third party waste. Carbon pricing may incentivise investment in carbon
capture and storage infrastructure, however apportioning the cost of such investment
between the client and the contractor will require collaboration and benefit sharing.
It also depends on the location and geographical context around EfW facilities, some CCU
may be easier and more effective to implement depending on the location of the facility and
surrounding infrastructure.
139) In the event of the carbon price being applied to waste operators, will waste
operators be able to pass through their costs to customers (including LAs)? (Y/N)
Please explain in as much detail as possible why, how, and to what extent this may or
may not occur.

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/9

Page 61

Appendix A
Yes, it is likely that a carbon price applied to waste operators will be determined as a
Qualifying Change in Law. If so, the Authority will bear capex and other costs associated
with the change associated with treating LA waste.
140) For LA owned plants, would unitary authorities and waste disposal authorities be
the only authorities exposed to the carbon price – in the event of waste operators
passing through costs? (Y/N) Please explain in as much detail as possible and
provide evidence to support your views.
No. It is likely that the disposal authority would bear the cost, however the collection
authorities may need to implement alternative collection arrangements if there are significant
changes to the waste stream.
There is no clear mechanism around how the costs of carbon for Local Authority generated
Contract Waste would be separately calculated and charged vs that of third party material.
141) Do you believe that government should consider phasing in ETS obligations to
the sector over time? (Y/N) If yes, please outline why, how, and to what extent phasing
options could be provided.
Yes, any new scheme should be a phased approach with a review period prior to any
mandatory role out. It would need to enable sufficient time for CCuS and heat offtake
projects to be developed prior to implementation.
142) Would operators of incineration/EfW plants be exposed to competitiveness
impacts abroad and carbon leakage risk, in the event of being exposed to the carbon
price? (Y/N) Please explain in as much detail as possible and provide evidence to
support your views.
143) Have you identified any other distributional impacts (including wider
environmental or social impacts) arising from this proposal? (Y/N) Do you have views
on how government could address these concerns?
144) What additional policies would be needed to support the UK ETS in
decarbonising waste incineration and EfW? How would this change over time?
Government support for first of a kind CCS at EfW facilities is to be welcomed, as is the
deployment of CCS at power stations. However, a more strategic view of the investment
required could be undertaken at an early stage, to ensure that carbon capture on a regional
basis rather than from a particular facility, derives maximum benefit from decarbonising
technology.
145) How would the expansion of the UK ETS to waste incineration and EfW interact
with existing and planned policies in waste incineration, EfW, and waste management
more broadly, as well as any other relevant non-decarbonisation policies?
Consideration should be given to how any ETS would operate in line with changes to the
Environment Act and Resources & Waste Strategy.
Wider policies on carbon capture and usage need to be supported by funding such as New
Burden funding, and the advancement of technology to determine the success and longevity
of any potential projects.

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/10

Page 62

Appendix A
Impacts on planning policy potentially, and future locations of facilities. Also need to
consider any impacts and costs around greater Environmental Permit burdens if more
reporting and monitoring is required under the ETS.
Need to ensure that policies do not contradict each other and we do not end up with
unintended consequences such as more waste being landfilled/exported. It would make
sense to focus on policies at the start of the waste hierarchy on front end design, minimising
resources and using materials that can be recycled rather than the lower grade fossil plastic
material.
146) Are there other parts of the waste management system that should be included
in the scope of the UK ETS? For example, landfill or wastewater. (Y/N) Please explain
in as much detail as possible and provide evidence to support your views.
Yes, landfills should be part of the UK ETS and RDF producers/exporters to help mitigate
carbon leakage.

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/11

Page 63

Appendix B
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 64

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

HM Government call for Evidence for UK Emissions Trading Scheme
The consultation around a new UK Emissions Trading Scheme included proposals to
consider extending the industries included in the scheme to Energy from Waste
Business & Environmental Services
Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Peter Jeffreys
Lisa Cooper – Commercial Manager Waste
10 May 2022

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/12

Appendix B
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
No
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The UK ETS scheme currently applies to energy intensive industries, the power generation sector and aviation. One of the proposals in the
consultation document is a call for evidence as to whether waste incineration and Energy from Waste EfW) should be included in the UK
ETS by the mid to late 2020s. This could mean that Allerton Waste Recovery Park (AWRP) would be included in the UK ETS in the future.
Using indicative figures, the UK ETS could potentially increase gate fees at AWRP by c£8.6/annum (shared between NYCC and CYC 79:21)

Page 65

The proposal doesn’t include details of the costs for carbon allowances, or indicate how many carbon allowances would be required for
AWRP.
The proposal may also result in a Qualifying Change in Law under the AWRP contract which would mean the Council is responsible for
covering capex and potentially other costs of implementation.
Any changes to the AWRP contract would require NYCC to engage with external financial, technical and legal consultants. Depending on
the scale and timeframe for the changes, these advisor costs could be significant.

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/13

Page 66

Minimise
greenhouse gas
emissions e.g.
reducing emissions
from travel,
increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Emissions
from travel

x

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Emissions
from data
storage
Other
x

x

Appendix B
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

x

x
If EFW are included in the UK ETS, robust
monitoring, reporting and verification
requirements will be placed on amounts of
fossil waste incinerated to reduces the
carbon impact of incineration

To implement robust
monitoring
arrangements to
determine biogenic
and fossil proportion
of AWRP input waste

If EFW are to be in scope, it is
anticipated the scheme will be
implemented in the mid – late 2020s

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/14

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Page 67

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse, x
recycle and compost e.g.
reducing use of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

The consultation considers whether
recycling would increase as a result of
including EFW in the ETS. Necessary
infrastructure will need to be in place to
support this (however, tee Resources &
Waste Strategy will have a more
significant impact)
x

Minimise pollution (including air, x
land, water, light and noise)
Ensure resilience to the effects x
of climate change e.g. reducing
flood risk, mitigating effects of
drier, hotter summers
Enhance conservation and
wildlife

Appendix B
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

See GHG emissions detail
See GHG emissions detail

X

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/15

Page 68

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Appendix B
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

X

Other (please state below)

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/16

Appendix B
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.
N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The inclusion of EFW within the scope of a UK ETS (by mid-late 2020s) would measure the amounts of fossil waste being incinerated. The
aim would be to reduce the carbon impacts and GHG emissions contributing to the UK meeting decarbonisation targets. It is not clear from
the proposals how onerous (or otherwise) any obligations would be. It is also not clear what the legal or financial costs of such changes
could mean for the AWRP contract and the operations of the facility.

Page 69

The NYCC response to the Government consultation suggests considering whether changes to other environmental policies through the
Resources and Waste Strategy should have time to embed prior to refining proposals around including EFWs in the UK ETS.
Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Lisa Cooper
Commercial Manager Waste
Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Business & Environmental Services
Lisa Cooper
10/05/2022

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature):
Date:

NYCC –27 May 2022 BES Exec Members
HM Government Consultation on Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme/17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Highways Capital Programme Headline Allocations 2023/24
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

That the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services (BES) in
consultation with BES Executive Member for Highways and Transportation,
i.
Agree the indicative headline structural highways maintenance capital
allocations for 2023/24 based on current planning assumptions.
ii.
Grant approval to carry out the relevant procurement processes

1.2

To seek agreement from the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services (BES), in consultation with the BES Executive Member for Highways and
Transportation, to authorise additions to the Highways Capital Forward
Programme for Structural Highway Maintenance identified since the last Highways
Capital Programme report dated 20 August 2021.

2.0

Background

2.1

The delivery of the capital works programme is the tangible outcome of the whole of
life cycle asset management approach outlined within the North Yorkshire County
Council Highways Asset Management Framework.

2.2

Specifically the programming and delivery of capital works align with the Highways
Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy. As such the objectives of the capital
works programme are as follows:

Maximise and demonstrate Value for Money (VfM)

Manage VfM and drive efficiencies over the whole programme term, not just the
financial year at hand.

Deliver on time and to budget, safely and without incident

2.3

The North Yorkshire County Council Highways Capital Programme is made up of
four specific elements:

Street Lighting

Bridges and Structures

Integrated Transport

Structural Highway Maintenance

2.4

This report seeks to provide an update on funding assumptions for 2023/24 and
2024/25 capital programme and an indicative overview of the headline allocation per
the four elements outlined above for 2023/24

3.0

Funding Position and funding assumptions

3.1

As outlined at the 25 March 2022 BES Executive members meeting, the Department
for Transport (DfT) confirmed our indicative funding settlements for 2023/24 and
2024/25 on 28 February 2022. The settlement is £40.07M for each financial year
and is in line the confirmed funding received for the 2022/23 annual programme.

Page 71

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Whilst the greater certainty of funding is welcomed as it allows for improved forward
planning, the levels of funding for 23/24 and 24/25 are the same as those for 21/22
and 22/23. This represents a real terms cut in funding. Inflationary pressures in the
wider economy and in particular in the construction sector will further reduce the
amount of work that we can deliver across our highways network as a result.
3.2

Information supplied with the settlement identified that the DfT is seeking to further
incentivise the award of highway capital funding in the future. At present we are
required to submit an annual response to the DfT incentive fund self-assessment
questionnaire. The questionnaire is designed to enable authorities to assess their
progress on the implementation of good practice, to ensure effective and efficient
delivery of highway services. This incentivised element of funding currently accounts
for £4.11M of the overall £40M funding settlement.

3.3

It is unclear at this point in time what the incentivised funding will look like in the
future. DfT has confirmed that there will be a series of engagement sessions during
2022 to update Local Highway Authorities, with a view to implementation of the new
incentivised funding structure from April 2023.

3.4

For the purposes of planning the annual programme for 23/24 and identifying a
working budget, we have assumed that we will retain our Band three status for
incentive funding and as such receive the full £40.07M of funding.

3.5

Work is underway to develop new schemes for inclusion in the Highways Capital
Forward Programme (HCFP). A report will be brought to a future meeting of the
Corporate Director and BES Executive Members, to approve the addition of these
schemes to the forward programme, the expectation is that this will be in August
2022. In Summer 2021 a revised process for managing the highway capital
programme was introduced. This process is outlined below.

3.6

Phase one, the HCFP. This effectively is a long list of approved schemes that do not
yet have a delivery date or year assigned to them. It is important to note that
inclusion within the forward programme does not guarantee delivery in a specific
financial year.

3.7

Phase two, the Highways Capital Annual programme. Once a more firm indication of
future years funding is known, an annual programme is developed, which will be
made up of selected schemes from the forward programme up to the value of
available funding. This is confirmed in late autumn for schemes to be delivered the
following financial year. Schemes not included within the annual programme will
remain on the forward programme for inclusion in future year’s annual programmes.

3.8

Phase three, the Highways Capital Delivery Programme. Once schemes are
confirmed for delivery within a financial year as part of the annual programme, the
delivery programme is developed. This will be an operational programme with
scheme start and finish dates included. Monitoring of in year programme delivery is
carried out against the delivery programme.

3.9

This revised process allows us to develop a bank of “on the shelf delivery ready”
schemes in advance, allowing for more efficient scheme delivery and the ability to
respond more quickly to any changes in funding. It also provides more flexibility and
improves forward visibility of future work for North Yorkshire Highways, allowing them
to work more closely and efficiently with their wider supply chain.

3.10

A report will be presented to a future meeting of the Corporate Director BES and BES
Executive Members detailing the schemes to be included within the 2023/24 annual
programme. The expectation is that this will be in November 2022.

Page 72

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.11

Typically, we seek to have a level of over programming of up to 10% within the
Highways Annual capital programme to allow some level of flexibility to take in to
account potential scheme delays for example. Continued monitoring of in year
programme delivery allows any overspend and underspend issues to be identified,
and if required we can either move schemes in or out of the delivery programme for a
specific year to ensure that we spend at or slightly above the available budget.

4.0

Proposed 2023/2024 Headline Allocations

4.1

Based on the estimated funding of £40.07m, the following headline allocations are
proposed for Highways Capital maintenance funding in 2023/24. A summary of the
overall headline allocations can be found in Appendix A

4.2

Street Lighting
The funding will continue the upgrade of the existing street lighting stock. The
proposed allocation for 2022/23 is £0.8M which is in line with the allocation for recent
years.

4.3

Bridges.
The funding will continue to be targeted at maintaining and strengthening the existing
structures stock. The analysis of routine or special inspection reports will identify and
prioritise those bridges and structures in need of treatment. The proposed allocation
for 2022/23 is £2.29M which is broadly in line with the allocation for previous years.

4.4

Integrated Transport
The proposed headline allocation for Integrated Transport for 2022/23 is £1.14M.
The remainder of the Integrated Transport funding allocation totalling £1.90M is
utilised to supplement highway maintenance budgets in accordance with current
policy.

4.5

Top Slice allocations
In line with previous years, there will be an element of “top-slicing” for specific
activities and projects. These include traffic data collection and modelling, highway
condition surveys, structures inspections; and pavement investigation and analysis.
2023/24
Allocation
/£

Project

4.6

Network Condition Surveys (SCANNER /
SCRIM / CVI)

350,000

NYCC Traffic Data Collection Contract

70,000

Site Investigation and Analysis
Highway Drainage Assets
Bridges & Structures Inspections
Pre-Planning Application Advice
Bridges AMX asset management software

300,000
40,000
220,000
33,600
12,200

There are further costs associated with the delivery of the Capital Programme. This
includes design fees, staffing costs and contractor overhead costs. The proposed
allocation for these costs is £10.84M.
External Fees (consultancy)
North Yorkshire Highways costs
Capital Recharge Contribution
Total

£1.90M
£4.80M
£4.14M
£10.84M

Page 73

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.7

Highway Drainage.
The proposed allocation is £600K which is in line with previous years.

4.8

Landslip Schemes
Landslips can occur at any time of the year although many are identified at an early
stage as a consequence of routine Highway Safety Inspections. Area Offices submit
locations which are subsequently prioritised countywide. The proposed allocation is
£600K which is in line with previous years.

4.9

Other Special Engineering Schemes:
The annual programme of Other Special Engineering Schemes is based upon
locations identified by Area Offices which do not fall ‘objectively’ into other works
categories, e.g. areas of cobbles or setts, laybys and guardrails etc. Area Offices
identify the rationale behind their submissions and the countywide programme is
determined based upon an assessment of need and network priority. The proposed
allocation is £600K which is in line with previous years.

4.10

Vehicle Restraint Systems (VRS):
As a consequence of progressing our cyclical service inspection regime on our VRS
assets we have identified a significant programme of required upgrading and repairs.
In addition to this, inspections on assets over 15 years old are required every 2 years
to assess condition and assist in prioritising repair works. In line with previous years,
the proposed allocation is £300K.

4.11

Cattle Grids:
Each Area Office has identified and prioritised an on-going annual programme of
cattle grid maintenance schemes. It is proposed that the allocation continues to be
set at £200K.

4.12

Footway Surface Treatment and Schemes
It is intended to continue to fund maintenance of the footway network (approximately
4250km) in line with existing allocations. This level of funding in conjunction with our
robust cyclic inspection regime is responsible for the gradual reduction in the number
of successful Third Party Insurance claims. Funding for footways surface treatments
and schemes is split in to the following categories;

4.13

Category 1a, 1 and 2 footways
The DfT have traditionally monitored the condition of the most heavily used element
of the Footway network (Category 1a, 1 and 2), in a similar way to carriageways and
as a result the scheme based programme is based upon network condition surveys
with schemes prioritised across the whole of the countywide network The proposed
allocation is £400K

4.14

Category 3,4 & 5 footways
The scheme based programme for Category 3, 4 & 5 Footways is based upon
locations initially identified by Local Area Offices which are subsequently condition
surveyed, and assessed in the same way as the heavily used footway network with
the resulting schemes prioritised across the whole of the countywide network. As a
consequence of introducing a local version of the Footway Network Survey (FNS),
whereby the footway condition is identified by Highways Officers during their routine
Highway Safety Inspections, Area Offices can now make more objective submissions
of locations for assessment and prioritisation. The proposed allocation is £1.0M

4.15

Category 3,4 & 5 Surface Treatments

Page 74

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

The Surface Treatment budget acknowledges that many of the lesser used footways
(Categories 3, 4 & 5) benefit in the same way as carriageways with the application of
preventative maintenance treatments. The budget allocation is based upon the
(estimated) percentage of footway network in each Area; each Area Office is
responsible for the identification of their programme which is based upon local
knowledge and the cyclical Highway Safety Inspections. The proposed allocation is
£520K.
4.16

Footway Patching
The patching budget is allocated on the percentage of that category of footway
network within the Highways Area Office boundary. The proposed allocation is £100K
for Category 1a, 1 & 2 footways and £125K for: Category 3, 4 & 5 footways.

4.17

Cycleways/Cycle Tracks:
This budget is used for maintenance of the network of cycleways/ cycle tracks that
form part of the highway network. The proposed allocation is £60K which is in line
with previous years.

4.18

Category 6 Roads (Unsurfaced Unclassified Roads)
Although our UUR network at 730km in length is only 8% of our network length, it is
important for recreational users including walkers, horse riders, motorcyclists and 4x4
drivers. Due to various factors, one of which being the Mechanically Powered
Vehicles effect upon the often loose surface of these routes, their deterioration, once
begun, can accelerate rapidly. The allocation for 2022/23 is proposed to remain at
£200K.

4.19

Carriageway Maintenance
Just under half (£19.28M) of the overall budget is allocated to carriageway structural
maintenance activities, including surface treatment, resurface and reconstruction and
patching schemes. Proposed allocations are outlined below.
Surface Treatment
Resurface and reconstruction
Patching Schemes
Total

4.20

£5.93M
£7.43M
£5.92M
£19.28M

Allocations are based on overall network condition. Headline data of the overall
network condition is outlined below.

Indicator / Target

2017/
2018

2018/
2019

2019/
2020

2020/
2021

2021/
2022

% Principal A roads
where maintenance
should be considered
(NI 130-1)
% Non-principal B and
C roads where
maintenance should be
considered (NI 130-2)
% A roads with a
SCRIM level of more
than 0 below
investigatory level (NI
130-3)

3%

3%

4%

3.0%

2.8%

5%

5%

5%

3.0%

3.0%

35%

44%

46%

31.0%

43.0%

Page 75

Change
from
2020/21

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

% B,C & U roads with a 31%
SCRIM level of more
than 0 below
investigatory level (NI
130-3)
% of Unclassified
18%
roads requiring
maintenance treatment
(BVPI 224b)
4.21

4.22

4.23

42%

31%

28.0%

34.3%

21%

20%

20.0%

17.0%

In general, highway condition has either improved or stayed relatively constant from
2020/21 in to 2021/22. There has been a significant improvement in the condition of
the unclassified network.
SCRIM data has shown a deterioration from 2020/21. The figure for 2021/22 takes in
to consideration amendments made to the site investigatory levels (ILs) across the
network that were implemented in summer 2021, reflecting our more robust approach
to have higher ILs for the rural network with higher traffic speeds.
The headline trends by each network hierarchy are outlined below. These figures
illustrate the continuing trend of improvement across the network, with only the
Category 2 network showing a slight deterioration in condition.
% of Roads Where Maintenance Should be considered
Network
Hierarchy
2 (Strategic)
3a (Strategic)
3b (Strategic)
4a (Local)
4b (Local)

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

1%
4%
4%
13%
17%

1%
5%
4%
14%
19%

2%
6%
5%
14%
19%

1.0%
4.0%
4.0%
12.0%
19.0%

1.3%
3.5%
3.1%
9.4%
16.0%

4.24

Further analysis of this data and the preparation of highway condition data
dashboards is being carried out at present and will be shared at a future BES
Executive Members meeting.

4.25

The allocation of budgets across the carriageway network by area is based on the
principles of the Highway Maintenance Investment Tool (HMIT) as approved by the
Corporate Director BES in consultation with BES Executive Members in June 2018.
This allows funding to be allocated to each hierarchy by highways areas, based on
the condition of the network. The objective with this approach is to, as a minimum,
maintain the strategic network in its current level of condition and to continue to
improve the condition of the local network.

4.26

Whilst the headline data shows a trend of improvement, given the real terms
reduction in funding up until 2024/25, it is recognised that this trend will become more
difficult to maintain going forward. As such the underlying philosophy of the
carriageway works programme is used to maximise the delivery of preventative
treatments such as surface dressing. These treatments are intended to extend the
‘useful’ life of the pavement and delay the requirement to undertake more major
(Resurfacing / Reconstruction) scheme based maintenance activities.

4.27

It is important to note that whilst the condition of the strategic network remains
broadly constant, there are sites on this network that require maintenance activity.
Given the size and scale of the local network (which accounts for around two thirds of
the total network length) alongside the target of improving its condition, the local
network has typically received the majority of funding in recent years.

Page 76

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.28

Given the existing budget levels and the funding split targeted towards the local road
network, it has become more challenging to deliver more expensive schemes on the
strategic network. To seek to start to address this in 23/24 we are proposing to
adjust the funding split between the local and strategic network. This will mean that
the strategic network will receive £2.3M more than originally planned in 23/24. This
will help to deliver more schemes on the strategic network and contribute towards
mitigating against reduced funding levels in the short to medium term. The split of
funding between the local and strategic networks is outlined below
Network
Local Network Strategic Network

Proposed
Funding Allocation
£10.965M (56.85%)
£8.321M (43.15%)

Original Funding
Allocation
£13.239M (68.64%)
£6.047M (31.36%)

4.29

Through our ongoing programme of carriageway condition data assessments we will
continue to monitor the condition of both the strategic and local network. Information
collated will inform future decisions on how to allocate funding across the network.

5.0

New Schemes to be added to the Highways Capital Forward Programme

5.1

It is proposed to add two new schemes, with a combined value of £47.2K to the
Highways Capital Forward Programme. As outlined at the BES Executive Members
Meeting on 20 August 2021, entry on to the forward programme does not guarantee
delivery in a specific year. It does however approve the proposed scheme for future
delivery. By adding these schemes to the forward programme now, it provides
additional time for design and development for potential scheme delivery in 22/23.

5.2

The proposed schemes were identified through ongoing asset condition and
engineering assessments carried out since the forward programme was approved on
20 August 2021. Details of the schemes are provided in Appendix B.

6.0

Financial Implications

6.1

Sections 3 and 4 above and Appendix A set out and summarise the financial aspects
of this report relative to the Highways Capital Programme Headline Allocations for
2023/24.

6.2

The contents of this report make no changes to the BES Capital Plan expenditure
limits.

7.0

Equalities Implications

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the recommendations. The principles and documents discussed in this
report are recommended for use in the Well-managed Highway Infrastructure Code
of Practice. Officers consider that there are no adverse impacts arising from the
recommendations in this report.

7.2

A copy of the ‘Record of Decision that Equality Impact Assessment is not required’
form is attached as Appendix C.

8.0

Legal Implications

8.1

The County Council, in its capacity as the Local Highway Authority, Street Authority
and Local Traffic Authority must act in accordance with a wide range of statutory
powers and duties imposed by legislation.

8.2

The proposed capital programme allocations and schemes have been developed and
prioritised in line with the relevant legislation such as the Highways Act 1980, the

Page 77

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, the
Transport Act 2000, the Traffic Management Act 2004 and the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010.
9.0

Climate Change Implications

9.1

A climate change impact assessment has been carried out, see Appendix D. Steps
will be taken during scheme delivery and construction to reduce emissions as far as
possible

10.0

Recommendation

10.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director BES in consultation with the BES
Executive Member for Highways and Transportation
i.
Agree the indicative headline structural highways maintenance capital
allocations based on current planning assumptions.
ii.
Grant approval to carry out the relevant procurement processes.

10.2

Authorises the additions to the Highways Capital Forward Programme for Structural
Highway Maintenance contained in Appendix B identified since the last Highways
Capital Programme report dated 20 August 2021.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation

Author of Report; James Gilroy

Background Documents: None

Page 78

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A
Sources of Funding Statement 2023/24
SOURCES OF FUNDING
Grant

2023/24 £s

Local Transport Plan

Revenue
Contribution

Needs base Incentive
Incentive Element
Integrated Transport
Pothole Funding
LTP Sub Total
Countywide CPE

16,454,000
4,113,000
3,046,000
16,454,000
40,067,000
57,000

TOTAL

40,124,000

Applications of Funding Statement 2023/24

Block
Allocations
Top Slices
(Inspections &
Surveys)

Fees &
Overheads

CPE
UUR
Footways &
Cycleways

Other
Engineering
Schemes

Carriageways

Integrated Transport Allocation
Bridges Allocation
Street lighting Allocation
Network Condition Surveys (SCANNER / SCRIM / CVI)
NYCC Traffic data Collection Contract

Programmable
Budget £s
1,120,000
2,290,000
800,000
350,000
70,000

Site investigation / Pavement Investigation
Bridge Inspections
Highway Drainage Infrastructure Inspections
Bridges AMX
Pre-Planning Application Advice
External Fees (Consultants)
North Yorkshire Highways costs
Capital Recharge contribution

300,000
220,000
40,000
12,000
33,600
1,900,000
4,800,000

CPE Allocation
Cat 6 UURs
Cat 1a, 1 and 2 Footways
Patching Cat 1a, 1 and 2 Footways
Cat 3, 4 and 5 Footways
Surface Treatment Cat 3, 4 and 5 Footways
Patching Cat 3,4 and 5 Footways
Cycle ways & Cycle tracks Schemes
Landslip Schemes
Drainage Schemes
Vehicle Restraint Systems (VRS)
Other ‘Special Engineering Schemes’
Cattle Grids
Allocation for Carriageways
TOTAL

4,140,000
57,000
200,000
400,000
100,000
1,000,000
520,000
125,000
60,000
600,000
600,000
300,000
600,000
200,000
19,286,400
40,124,00

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
PageHighways
79 Capital
Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

Schemes to be added to the Highways Capital Forward Programme
District

Location

Address

Ryedale

Goose Track Lane
Culvert

West Lilling

Selby

Fulham Lane,

Womersley

Est
Reason for addition
Cost/£
£14,500 Damaged culvert which
has resulted in a road
closure. Proposed
scheme is to reconstruct
the culvert.
£32,700 Damaged culvert
headwall. Proposed
scheme is to reconstruct
and realign the headwall
and realign the adjacent
dyke.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 80
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be
appropriate or proportionate.
Directorate
BES
Service area
H&T
Proposal being screened
BES Executive Member Report – Highways
Capital Programme Headline Allocations 2023/24
Officer(s) carrying out screening
James Gilroy
What are you proposing to do?

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?
Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

That the Corporate Director, Business and
Environmental Services (BES) and BES
Executive Member for Highways and
Transportation,
-approve the headline highways structural
maintenance capital allocations based on current
planning assumptions
-Approve the development of the draft highways
capital programme based on the indicative
highways capital allocation
Approval to spend the Highways Capital Budget
on identified schemes.
Yes- IRO £40million of Capital funding each
financial year

Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant
adverse impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA
should be carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your
Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t
know/No info
available








Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
PageHighways
81 Capital
Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date







No

No. The report focuses on the overarching
capital maintenance funding position.


EIA not relevant
Continue to
or proportionate:
full EIA:
The allocation of funding is based on the
“Manage, Maintain and Improve” (MMI)
hierarchy set out in Local Transport Plan 4,
which has been the subject of an Equality
Impact Assessment (EIA). This concluded that
the introduction of fewer improvement schemes
may have a greater impact on people with
mobility difficulties or without access to a private
vehicle as there will be fewer new facilities
provided e.g. pedestrian crossings, dropped
kerbs, bus stop accessibility improvements;
however, it is also considered that prioritising
maintenance, particularly for footways, through
the MMI hierarchy is likely to produce a net
benefit for people with the same protected
characteristics; particularly in terms of age and
disability.
Barrie Mason
18 May 2022

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 82
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix D
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 83

However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal

Highways Capital Programme Headline Allocations 2022/2023

Brief description of proposal





Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Agree the indicative headline structural highways maintenance capital
allocations for 2023/24 based on current planning assumptions.
Grant approval to carry out the relevant procurement processes
Authorises the additions to the Highways Capital Forward Programme for
Structural Highway Maintenance contained in Appendix B identified since the
last Highways Capital Programme report dated 20 August 2021

BES
Highways and Transportation
James Gilroy

13.05.2021
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix D
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
The other option that was considered was to plan based on a lower value of DfT funding at £40M
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The points raised in respect of profiling the capital programme enable scheme delivery to match available DfT funding. The proposal is cost
neutral

Page 84
NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Page 85

Minimise
Emissions
greenhouse gas
from travel
emissions e.g.
Emissions
reducing emissions from
from travel, increasing construction
energy efficiencies
etc.
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other
Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

x

Appendix D
Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

Repairs to existing infrastructure
x

Some emissions from construction
vehicles

Where possible –
ensure that vehicle
mileage is reduced by
planning vehicle
movements /
diversion routes etc

x

x
x

x
x

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Page 86

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier,
hotter summers

x

Enhance conservation and
wildlife

x

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

x

Other (please state below)

x

Appendix D
Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix D
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.
N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
Steps will be taken to ensure that construction emissions are reduced as far as possible.

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:

Page 87

Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

James Gilroy
Team Leader Highway Asset Management
Highways and Transport
BES
J Gilroy
13.05.2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 18 May 2022

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Headline Allocation Summary 2023/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
A6068 Cowling and Glusburn – Proposed 40mph Speed Restriction
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to advise the Corporate Director Business and
Environmental Services (BES) and the BES Executive Members of the outcome of
the public consultation and for a decision to be made on whether the following
proposals be introduced or set aside in light of the objections received.

2.0

Background

2.1

Cowling and Glusburn are residential villages situated on the A6068 which runs from
the east at Cross Hills in North Yorkshire to the west at Colne in Lancashire where it
joins the M65.

2.2

The layout of the road includes a 30mph speed limit through both villages. At the end
of development at both villages, the A6068 is subject to the National speed limit for
single carriageway roads of 60mph.

2.3

Location plans are attached in Appendix A and B showing where the measures are
proposed to be introduced.

2.4

At the A6068 Glusburn, from the existing 30mph signs, the road is rural in nature with
open farmland on both sides of the road with five farm/property accesses between
Glusburn and the east end of Cowling village. A tarmac footpath runs the full length
on the north side of the road from Glusburn to Cowling. There is a road junction (Carr
Head Lane) approximately 300 metres form the start of the National speed limit at
Glusburn.

2.5

At the A6068 west of Cowling, from the existing 30mph signs, the road is rural in
nature with open farmland on both sides of the road with six farm/property accesses
to 200 metres west of the Park Lane junction. At the Park Lane junction is a row of 6
terraced houses which are adjacent to the A6068. The A6068 also takes in the
junction at Nan Scar which serves the village of Ickornshaw. This section of the
A6068 has a system of street lighting present.

2.6

The proposed 40mph speed limit at the A6068 Glusburn has been proposed due to
the approved Planning Application 32/2016/17097 (Malsis Hall, Colne Road,
Glusburn) for 86 new dwellings. Negotiations with the developer for the Section 278
agreement required the construction of an improved access, traffic islands, dropped
kerbs with tactile paving and these works are now under construction. The
agreement also included the proposal for the change in speed limit.

2.7

The 40mph speed limit at Cowling is being proposed following concerns raised by
residents and Cowling Parish Council regarding the speed of traffic through Cowling
within the 30mph limit. Discussions and meetings have taken place with residents
– 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 89A6068 Cowling andNYCC
Glusburn Proposed 40mph speed limit/1

OFFICIAL

and Parish Council representatives and there have been officer meetings between
NYCC officers, NYP officers and the PFCC office. As a consequence of those
discussions, the road markings have been fully refreshed through the village for the
length of the existing 30mph limit, a second vehicle activated warning sign has been
installed and this speed limit proposal has also been put forward. There is an issue
with vehicle speeds and overtaking at the east end of the village and work is ongoing
to develop an appropriate engineering solution to mitigate these concerns.
3.0

Consultation

3.1

Formal consultation took place and the 40mph Speed Restriction Order was
advertised for public comment on 9 December 2021 as shown in Appendix A, B, C
and D and was as follows:
NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
(40 MPH SPEED LIMIT) (A6068 COLNE ROAD, COWLING AND A6068 COLNE
ROAD, GLUSBURN) ORDER 2022
This was advertised in the local press, published on North Yorkshire County
Council’s website and also by means of notices erected on street in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and
Wales) Regulations 1996. The last date for receipt of objections was 31 December
2021.

3.2

The consultation documentation was also sent to key stakeholders including the
Local Elected Member for Cowling, the Local Elected Member for Glusburn, Cowling
Parish Council and Glusburn & Crosshills Parish Council.

3.3

At the close of the statutory consultation process, correspondence was received both
for and against the proposals. The full comments are summarised in Appendix E
together with your officer’s comments.

3.4

County Councillor Philip Barrett ward member at the time of consultation
representing Glusburn was supportive of the proposals that cover his ward in
Glusburn. Glusburn and Crosshills Parish Council are also supportive. Cowling
Parish Council objects to all the proposals as summarised in the comments in
Appendix E.

3.5

The North Yorkshire Police Traffic Management Officer was consulted and
commented ‘I’ve read the proposals for the introduction of the 40mph speed limits on
the A6068 to the west of Cowling (including Nan Scar) and to the west of Glusburn,
the later in anticipation of the residential development at Malsis Hall. I can confirm
the North Yorkshire Police have no objections.

3.6

Following the County Elections on 5 May 2022, Cllr Andy Brown was elected to the
Aire Valley division which includes Cowling. A meeting with Cllr Brown was held on
19 May 2022 to discuss the speed limit proposals and Cllr Brown confirmed his
support for the speed limit proposals as advertised. He recognises the concerns
expressed by Cowling Parish Council and is happy to support the ongoing
discussions regarding options to resolve/mitigate concerns.

4.0

Officer Comment and Conclusion

4.1

Analysis of the collision history over the last five years shows one recorded slight
injury accident along the proposed length of speed limit west of Glusburn, This
occurred in January 2018 where a vehicle pulled out of Carr Head Lane into an

Page 90
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling and Glusburn Proposed 40mph speed limit/2

oncoming vehicle. The collision history of the proposed length west of Cowling shows
no recorded accidents in the previous five years. The previous accident was
recorded in April 2015 where a vehicle pulled out of Park Lane into an oncoming
vehicle.
4.2

Previous traffic surveys have been carried out at both proposed 40mph sections:
West of Glusburn, speeds in the vicinity of the existing 30mph signs where there is a
permanent counter, show a seven day mean speed of 32.1mph and an 85th
percentile of 38.9mph.
A traffic survey undertaken near to Carr Head Lane in 2018 showed a seven day
mean speed of 43mph and an 85th percentile of 51mph
West of Cowling, a speed survey carried out in 2021 showed a seven day mean
speed of 37mph and 85th percentile of 42.1mph.
The speed surveys suggest that a 40mph limit is appropriate for both proposed
sections.

4.3

In evaluating the proposed change in speed limit, the national guidance Department
for Transport (DfT) Circular 01/2013 ‘Setting Local Speed Limits’ was taken into
account. It was considered that, given the lack of frontage development, the
appropriate speed limit for these sections of the A6068 is 40mph. Not only is this
consistent with other 40mph speed limits within the County, it would also create a
buffer zone for traffic approaching Cowling from the west and Glusburn from the west
where there are residential frontages.

4.4

Speed limits on their own have very little impact on driver perception of the
appropriate speed. Drivers generally travel at a speed which they perceive to match
traffic conditions and according to other factors, such as the road environment, the
weather, parked vehicles, number of junctions, pedestrian movements etc. The
development on the A6068 between Glusburn and Cowling village is very sparse and
the perception for drivers is not one of driving through an urban area, and drivers
perceive that there is not the level of hazards that would be associated with a 40mph
speed limit. Consequently the introduction of an inappropriate speed limit and its
associated signing alone will not affect overall speeds without an extremely high level
of Police enforcement

4.5

Your Officers would recommend that the proposed 40mph speed limit on the A6068
west of Glusburn and the A6068 west of Cowling, as advertised, is implemented.
However Officers also recommend that the requested 40mph to cover the length of
the A6068 between Glusburn and Cowling, as requested by Cowling Parish Council,
#30 speed group and residents, is not implemented on the grounds that this proposal
does not comply with Department for Transport guidelines for the setting of 40mph
speed limits. However, there is an issue with vehicle speeds and overtaking at the
east end of Cowling village and work is ongoing to develop an appropriate
engineering solution to mitigate these concerns.

4.6

Your Officers consider that the proposed 40 mph speed limit will enable the County
Council to comply with its duty under Section 122(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation
Act 1984 to exercise their functions as road traffic authority so as to secure the
expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including
pedestrians), as set out in the Statement of Reasons for proposing to make the Order
attached to this report.

– 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 91A6068 Cowling andNYCC
Glusburn Proposed 40mph speed limit/3

OFFICIAL

4.7

Appendices C and D details the Statement for Reasons for proposing to make the
order and the location schedule.

4.8

Appendix E lists the objections/representations that have been received to the
proposals and includes officer’s comments and recommendations.

4.9

Any comments received from the relevant Local Members are included in the
appropriate detailed report. In accordance with the protocol for BES Executive
Member reports, the Local Members will be provided with a copy of this report and be
invited to the meeting on 27 May 2022.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

For the proposed 40mph section at A6068 Cowling, funding is available from the
existing Area 5 ‘Signs, Lines and TRO’ budgets to support the installation of these
measures which are estimated to be in the region of £1000.
For the proposed 40mph section at A6068 Glusburn, funding has been made
available through a Section 278 agreement with the developer of the Malsis housing
development as mentioned in section 2.6 of this report.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the recommendation. It is the view of officers that the recommendation
does not have an adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in
the Equalities Act 2010. A copy of the Equalities Impact Assessment decision form is
attached as Appendix F.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any legal implications arising from
the recommendation.

7.2

A new process for the consideration of objections to TRO’s was approved by the
Executive on 29 April 2014 and County Council on 21 May 2014. The consideration
of objections to TRO’s is now a matter for the Executive and the role of the Area
Committee is changed to a consultative role on wide area impact TRO’s. The
consideration of objections has been delegated by the Executive to the Corporate
Director – BES in consultation with BES Executive Members. The new decision
making process relates to the provision and regulation of parking places both off and
on the highway where an objection is received from any person or body entitled
under the relevant statute. A wide area impact TRO is classed as a proposal
satisfying all of the three criteria set out below:
The proposal affects more than one street or road
The proposal affects more than one community
The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor.

7.3

The proposed TRO has not been classed as a wide area impact TRO as the
proposal does not affect more than one street or road and hence the Area
Committee’s views have not been sought.

7.4

In the event that the BES Executive Members and BES Corporate Director resolve to
follow the recommendations contained in this report, then in accordance with the
Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996,

Page 92
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling and Glusburn Proposed 40mph speed limit/4

the County Council will be required to make a Traffic Regulation Order (with or
without modifications) and publish a notice of making the Order in the local press.
The County Council will also be required to notify the objectors of its decision and the
reasons for making that decision within 14 days of the Order being made.
7.5

Where an Order has been made (i.e. sealed), if any person wishes to question the
validity of the Order or any of its provisions on the grounds that it or they are not
within the powers conferred by the Road Traffic Regulation Act1984, or that any
requirement of the 1984 Act or of any instrument made under the 1984 Act has not
been complied with, they may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date
on which the Order is made.

7.6

In recommending the implementation of the proposed TRO as advertised for the
reasons set out in this Report, Officers consider that the County Council is complying
with its duty under Section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and has
carried out the required balancing exercise in coming to that decision.

7.7

All other main legal aspects are covered in Section 3 to this report. Beyond that, it is
the view of officers that the proposals do not have any legal implications for the
County Council.

8.0

Climate Change Implications

8.1

Consideration has also been given to the potential for any adverse Climate Change
impacts arising from the recommendation. It is the view of officers that the
recommendation does not have an adverse impact on Climate Change and as such
a Climate Change Impact Assessment has not been carried out. A copy of the
Climate Change Impact Assessment decision form is attached as Appendix G.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended (having taken into account of all the duly made representations
and objections) that:
i)

The results of the consultation exercise are noted

ii)

The Corporate Director, BES, and the Executive Member for Highways and
Transportation, approve the introduction of the speed limit as advertised
and as shown in Appendices A to D

iii)

That the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) be
authorised to seal the relevant Traffic Regulation Order by the Corporate
Director (BES) and Councillor Keane Duncan – Executive Member for
Highways and Transportation in light of the objections received and that the
objectors are notified within 14 days of the order being made.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Highways & Transportation, Business and Environmental Services
Author of Report: David Cairns
Background Documents: Letters/ Emails objecting to the proposals, as outlined in this
report are held in the scheme files held by the Skipton Area 5 Highways Office.
– 27 May 2022 – Executive Members
Page 93A6068 Cowling andNYCC
Glusburn Proposed 40mph speed limit/5

OFFICIAL

60
68

FB

LB

16

20

12

Winter House

Nan Scar

30
28

34
32

n
Sig

AD

s

E RO
COLN

Cork Hall Bridge

n
ctio
stri

30

Ickornshaw

6

ere
0/D

2

4
8 6

38
36

40
42
50

48

56

9

7

1
2

64

1 to 6

g3

R
PA

n
isti
Ex

NE

Nan House

58

e
sid
ok
Bro

A
KL

10

1

nelm
Du

12

7

Existing
ion
30/Derestrict
Signs

A 6068
11

24
22

70

s
rn

A

Appendix A

s

ne

to

Da

Shelter

Path (um)

th

Pa
(um
)

Page 94
Notes:

Key:
Existing 30mph limit
Proposed 40mph limit

Drawn:

DC
Checked:

Date:

Project:

A6068 COLNE ROAD, COWLING

Oct 2021
Date:

AREA
NO.

Title:

PROPOSED 40MPH SPEED RESTRICTION

5

Business & Environmental Services
Corporate Director: Karl Battersby

Approved:
This drawing is based upon Ordnance Survey map information with the permission of the controller, H.M. Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. North Yorkshire County Council. 100017946 (2021).

ORIGINAL DRAWING SIZE A3

Date:

Scale:

N.T.S

Drawing No:

Rev:

A5/Cowling40/Con1

Area 5 Skipton

Mount Pleasant

1

Sinks

1a

NE

S LA

3

BINN

BM 122.69m

Post

7

Appendix B

119.8m

23
25

9

West End

BUNG

9

E STR
LODG
EET

1

13

Kirk Hill House

White
Abbey

ALOW

R
HIGHE

21

5

Glusburn Green

15

1

GREEN LANE

Cattle Grid

4

Harrison
Place

2

4

Old Hall Farm
3

6
5a

RD
GA

8

EN

5

3

E
CLOS

1
11 13

9

Drain
1

1

17

25

19

13a 15

9

2
1

E

WALKER CLOS

OLD HALL ROAD

20

11

1a

3

5

1

1

10

8

1

5
3

Crag
Mere

Bridge End

Holme
House

Waterfield
Ho

Moorbeck
House
Glen
Brook

LB

COLNE ROAD

ll
Ghy
lme

5

Ho

24

El
Sub Sta

e
lm
Ho

Bridge End
Cottage

ck
Be

Bridge End
House

Lumb Mill
Bridge

CAR
R

D LA

NE

MALAIS LANE

A6

Dog and Gun Inn
(PH)
HEA

068

Key:
Existing 30mph limit
Proposed 40mph limit

Notes:

Drawn:

DC

Date:

Project:

A6068 COLNE ROAD, GLUSBURN
AREA
NO.

Nov 2021

Checked: Date:

Drawing Title:

5

PROPOSED 40MPH SPEED LIMIT

Business & Environmental Services

Approved: Date:
This drawing is based upon Ordnance Survey map information with the
permission of the controller, H.M. Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. North Yorkshire County Council. 100017946 (2021).

ORIGINAL DRAWING SIZE A4

Scale:

N.T.S

Page 95

Drawing No:

A5/Glusburn40/Cons1

Th
Hol e
lies
Millf
ield

1

6

1

Glusburn
Bridge
rn Beck

12

Green
Ways

28

Glusburn Beck

16

Cornerways

19

1

16
2

MIL
CORN

Glusbu

11

2

CLOSE

25

OLD

1

OLD HALL

4

Stoneycroft

L

THE

MP

2

OLD HALL WAY

2

15
11

Corn
Mill

108.5m

5
1

2

Glusburn
Bridge

16

7
3

8

Old Hall

1a

10

Corporate Director: Karl Battersby

Rev:

Area 5 Skipton

RO

Appendix C

PROPOSED INTRODUCTION OF A 40MPH SPEED LIMIT
A6068 COLNE ROAD, COWLING
STATEMENT OF THE COUNCIL’S REASONS FOR PROPOSING TO MAKE THE ORDER

LEGAL POWERS AND DUTIES
Under Section 1(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 the County Council, as traffic authority for North
Yorkshire, has powers to make a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) where it appears expedient to make it on
one or more of the following grounds:(a)

for avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or for preventing the
likelihood of any such danger arising, or

(b)

for preventing damage to the road or to any building on or near the road, or

(c)

for facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any class of traffic (including
pedestrians), or

(d)

for preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind which, or its use by vehicular traffic in
a manner which, is unsuitable having regard to the existing character of the road or adjoining
property, or

(e)

(without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above) for preserving the character of the road
in a case where it is specially suitable for use by persons on horseback or on foot, or

(f)

for preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the road runs; or

(g)

for any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (1) of Section 87 of the
Environment Act 1995 (air quality).

Section 122(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 also provides that it shall be the duty of every local
authority upon whom functions are conferred by or under the 1984 Act so to exercise those functions as to
secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians)
and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway.

REASONS FOR MAKING THE ORDER
The County Council considers that it is expedient to make this Traffic Regulation Order on grounds (a) (b)
and (f) above, having taken into account its duty under Section 122(1) of the 1984 Act, for the following
reasons:Location(s) of Proposed Order
A6068 COLNE ROAD, COWLING [Plan A5/Cowling40/Con1].
Introduction of a 40mph limit to reduce traffic speeds and improve road safety for all road users. The speed
limit will cover the length of partially built up road and Park Lane and Ickornshaw junctions.

Page 96
OFFICIAL

CONSIDERATION OF OBJECTIONS
Under the County Council’s Constitution, the consideration of objections to a proposed TRO is delegated to
the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) in consultation with the BES Executive
Members. For each TRO where there are objections, it will be necessary to bring a report to the Corporate
Director - BES and the BES Executive Members seeking a decision on the consideration of the objections.
The report will include the views of the relevant local member who will also be invited to the meeting that
considers the report. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the matter to the Council’s Executive
for a final decision.
A report to the relevant Area Committee will only be necessary when there are objections to a wide area
impact TRO.
A wide area impact TRO is defined as a proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out below:




The proposal affects more than one street or road and,
The proposal affects more than one community and,
The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor

The report will seek the views of the Area Committee and these views will then be included in a report to the
Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive Members seeking a decision on the consideration of the
objections. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the matter to the Executive for a final decision.
The existing arrangements for members of the public wishing to attend or speak at committee meetings will
apply and it may be appropriate for the Corporate Director - BES to have his decision making meetings open
to the public, so that the public and in particular those with objections, have the opportunity to put their views
across directly.
N.B. The Corporate Director - BES has delegated powers to make decisions on TROs where there are no
objections.

LOCATION OF PROPOSED 40MPH ORDER

Road

Length

1

A6068 Colne Road,
Cowling

From the existing 30mph terminal signs at Cork Hall Bridge to a point
120 metres west of its junction with Park Lane measured from the
centre line of Park Lane.

2

Nan Scar, Ickornshaw

From the existing 30mph terminal signs to its junction with the A6068
Colne Road, Cowling.

Page 97
OFFICIAL

NYCC - 27th May 2022 Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn - Proposed 40mph speed limit

Appendix D
PROPOSED INTRODUCTION OF A 40MPH SPEED LIMIT
A6068 COLNE ROAD, GLUSBURN
STATEMENT OF THE COUNCIL’S REASONS FOR PROPOSING TO MAKE THE ORDER

LEGAL POWERS AND DUTIES
Under Section 1(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 the County Council, as traffic authority for North
Yorkshire, has powers to make a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) where it appears expedient to make it on
one or more of the following grounds:(a)

for avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or for preventing the
likelihood of any such danger arising, or

(b)

for preventing damage to the road or to any building on or near the road, or

(c)

for facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any class of traffic (including
pedestrians), or

(d)

for preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind which, or its use by vehicular traffic in
a manner which, is unsuitable having regard to the existing character of the road or adjoining
property, or

(e)

(without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above) for preserving the character of the road
in a case where it is specially suitable for use by persons on horseback or on foot, or

(f)

for preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the road runs; or

(g)

for any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (1) of Section 87 of the
Environment Act 1995 (air quality).

Section 122(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 also provides that it shall be the duty of every local
authority upon whom functions are conferred by or under the 1984 Act so to exercise those functions as to
secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians)
and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway.

REASONS FOR MAKING THE ORDER
The County Council considers that it is expedient to make this Traffic Regulation Order on grounds (a) (b)
and (f) above, having taken into account its duty under Section 122(1) of the 1984 Act, for the following
reasons:Location(s) of Proposed Order
A6068 COLNE ROAD, GLUSBURN [Plan A5/Glusburn40/Cons1].
Introduction of a 40mph limit to reduce traffic speeds and improve road safety for all road users. The speed
limit will cover the length of partially built up road and Carr Head Lane junction forming part of the new
housing development at Malsis.

Page 98
OFFICIAL

CONSIDERATION OF OBJECTIONS
Under the County Council’s Constitution, the consideration of objections to a proposed TRO is delegated to
the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) in consultation with the BES Executive
Members. For each TRO where there are objections, it will be necessary to bring a report to the Corporate
Director - BES and the BES Executive Members seeking a decision on the consideration of the objections.
The report will include the views of the relevant local member who will also be invited to the meeting that
considers the report. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the matter to the Council’s Executive
for a final decision.
A report to the relevant Area Committee will only be necessary when there are objections to a wide area
impact TRO.
A wide area impact TRO is defined as a proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out below:




The proposal affects more than one street or road and,
The proposal affects more than one community and,
The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor

The report will seek the views of the Area Committee and these views will then be included in a report to the
Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive Members seeking a decision on the consideration of the
objections. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the matter to the Executive for a final decision.
The existing arrangements for members of the public wishing to attend or speak at committee meetings will
apply and it may be appropriate for the Corporate Director - BES to have his decision making meetings open
to the public, so that the public and in particular those with objections, have the opportunity to put their views
across directly.
N.B. The Corporate Director - BES has delegated powers to make decisions on TROs where there are no
objections.

LOCATION OF PROPOSED 40MPH ORDER

Road

1

A6068 Colne Road,
Glusburn

Length

From the existing 30mph terminal signs at The Dog and Gun Public
House to a point 20 metres west of its junction with Carr Head Lane
measured from the centre line of Carr Head Lane.

Page 99
OFFICIAL

NYCC - 27th May 2022 - Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn - Proposed 40mph speed limit

Appendix E

Appendix E – Summary of comments
Comment 1 - Cowling PC Councillor
I write as a resident of Cowling and as a Parish Councillor on behalf of others too, it’s in
regards to introducing restricted speed limits to two areas along the A6068 Colne & Keighley
Roads.
I do not believe your proposals go far enough to reduce the risk to the General public using
this road. There have been fatalities recently on the stretch you have not included in your
plan. This stretch passes residential areas on both sides of the road, ie, New Hall Farm and
Earl Crag view. You say in your statement the proposals are to reduce the risk to residents,
mainly at the new Malsis site and protect traffic entering and leaving Carr Head Rd, well I
feel you should re consider your plan to include reducing the speed along the whole stretch
between Carr Head Rd and the entrance to Cowling village. I have had many a complaint
from residents of this village regarding erratic driving in the areas not included in your
proposals, in addition to this and on a personal note as a cyclist using this stretch to
commute to and from work daily, I have experienced several near misses due to erratic
driving behaviour, sometimes driving vehicles around bollards onto the opposite carriageway
at excessive speeds.
In addition to this I have been able to smell Cannabis coming from the said vehicles as they
overtake very frequently, of course there’s little resource to challenge this unacceptable
behaviour.
Officer comment
Extending the 40mph speed limit between villages does not comply with the
Department for Transport recommendations when setting speed limits which must be
appropriate for the environment.
Erratic driving and other anti social behaviour is a matter for the police.

Comment 2 - Resident
As a very frustrated and worried resident of Lane Ends, Cowling (East side/Glusburn end) I
feel it necessary to write to you to express my opinion of the proposed speed reduction on a
small stretch of the A6068 at Malsis as I do not feel it addresses the dangers that Cowling
residents experience on a day-to-day basis (and nights for that matter).
I have lived here for 10 years on Keighley Road, right where the road changes from 60mph
to 30mph and vice versa and I can assure you that we witness horrendously dangerous
manoeuvres several times a day including overtaking on the wrong side of the bollards
entering from the East and regular speeding in both directions. It is like a runway outside our
house as the cars accelerate towards Glusburn and the police camera van, whilst doing a
great job, is not here often enough nor is it here on a night time when there are cars racing
through our village at incredible speeds.
Whilst we have lived here a young man flipped his car over on the bollards, coming to rest
outside our house and my husband had to pull him out. More recently a poor man was mown
down as he crossed the road just outside the village boundary.
There are no signs to remind motorists to keep at 30mph between the Fish and Chip Shop
and the East boundary and we have been told none will be installed due to the nature of the
street lighting. Street lighting is not an effective way of reminding people to slow down.
Just down the road from us there is New Hall Farm where the private road from the main
road serves 9 houses on a bend with restricted visibility and a bus stop in a dangerous
position when alighting in a Westerly direction.
The road is often affected by severe flooding even after only short spells of rain.

Page 100
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
As I am sure you are aware, there have been several accidents, including fatalities both
within our village of Cowling and on the roads coming from Glusburn and Colne.
I therefore add my voice to that of many others who have been campaigning for years and
implore you to review the full stretch of the A6068 road speed limits both in Cowling itself
and on the approaches from both directions not just further down towards Malsis.
Officer comment
Extending the 40mph speed limit between villages does not comply with the
Department for Transport recommendations when setting speed limits which must be
appropriate for the environment.
Reminder (repeater) signs for 30mph through Cowling village are not permitted by the Dft
due to the presence of street lighting.
Work is ongoing to develop an appropriate engineering solution to mitigate the issues at the
east end of Cowling village.
Comment 3 - Cowling Parish Council
Cowling Parish Council (CPC) objects to this proposal. Whilst speed reduction zones are
viewed as essential and part of an overall holistic approach to our road traffic safety issues,
it is the view of CPC that the proposal as it stands will not be effective.
CPC feel that the proposal from NYCC fails to fully appreciate all the dangers that have been
highlighted along this road, and that the proposal presented by NYCC would ultimately fail to
achieve the aim of preventing the majority of those dangers.
Whilst CPC appreciate the efforts of NYCC to address the problem, the view of CPC is that
not only does this proposal have very little chance of success, it may even increase the risk
of danger at one place (Carr Head Lane junction). We, therefore, formally request that
NYCC engage in meaningful consultation with CPC and the residents of Cowling to arrive at
a mutually agreed position.
Cowling Parish Council objects to this proposal primarily for 3 reasons:
1.

The Eastern Approach into Cowling regularly experiences speeding and overtaking, with
examples of speeds in excess of 80 mph (from police mobile speed enforcement
information). This has residents of New Hall Farm estate (9 properties), and local
farmers, forced to negotiate dangerous entrances/exits to homes and farmland on a
bend, in a 60mph zone, where a 21yr old nurse was recently killed. Yet no 40mph
speed reduction has been proposed along this stretch to slow the traffic entering
Cowling, and eastward traffic speeding up unnecessarily from Collinge Road, near the
village centre, onwards towards Lane Ends as the National Speed Limit sign can be
seen that far back.

2.

When drivers see a national speed limit sign, experience shows that many drivers speed
up before the sign and, for a speed reduction sign, start to slow down only after passing
the sign, The proposed 40mph speed zone, from Dog & Gun pub to 20 metres beyond
Carr Head Lane junction, is therefore likely to encourage increasing speed, plus
overtaking, by drivers approaching this junction. In the opposite direction it is also likely
to have the effect of drivers reducing speed only after passing the speed reduction
signs.
This could result in not only failing to decrease the dangers at this junction, but could
actually increase the risk of collisions. Whilst we agree that this area should be 40mph,
we propose that the 40mph zone should extend to the 30mph signs at Cowling Lane
Ends.
On paper these actions are, of course, against the law but we are concerned with realworld solutions to real-world dangers. What matters here is not what the law states or

Page 101
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
purports to achieve, only which sensible, logical, practical, real-world solutions give the
best chance of achieving prevention of the actual dangers on our roads.
CPC believes that in order to have the best chance of reducing the dangers along this
road, from Malsis, past the Carr Head Lane junction, past New Hall Farm and entering
Lane Ends, the speed limit on the entire stretch of road, from Dog &Gun pub to the
30mph signs at Land Ends, should be limited to a mandatory maximum of 40mph.
3. The S-Bends on the Western approach experience multiple crashes every year by
drivers approaching Cowling from the west. A telegraph pole at that point has been
replaced 3 times in 18 months, and we have video footage of accidents here. The
proposed 40mph zone does not include this stretch. It only starts after the S-Bends, just
prior to Park Lane junction.
CPC believes that in order to have the best chance of reducing the dangers raised, the
speed limit on the entire stretch of road, from west of the S-Bends to the 30mph signs at
Cork Hall Bridge, should be limited to a mandatory maximum of 40mph.
Clearly NYCC acknowledge the existence of a present and future danger, therefore there
also exists a duty of care to introduce effective road safety measures on the grounds stated
in this proposal. Cowling has been designated a KSI (Kill or Serious Injury) site by the North
Yorkshire Police and is also used as an example in the newly launched Operation SNAP
campaign, which focuses on tackling dangerous driving
We cannot support what we view as a far-too-limited proposal which we believe has no
chance of real success. As we have received neither explanation nor reasoning for these
very limited speed reduction zones, we are not clear how NYCC expect this proposal to
actually solve the road traffic dangers that have been raised countless times.
The proposal simply states that the ‘reasons’ for the proposal are …on grounds (a) (b) and
(f)… of Section 1(1) of Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (including: avoiding and preventing
the likelihood of danger on the road). No mention is made as to how/why it is thought these
proposals would work in this case, or why the extra stretches of dangerous road, which have
been highlighted constantly, namely the approach to Cowling from the East, as well as the S
Bends on the Western approach, have been omitted or dismissed.
COSTS:
The costs for our proposals should not be any more expensive than NYCC’s proposal. In
fact ours should cost less. For example, on the Dog & Gun to Lane Ends section, all that is
required to make this stretch a single 40mph zone is to change the signs at each end
utilising the present poles and lighting. What is being proposed by NYCC and Area 5 seems
to include new poles and lighting 20 meters west of the Carr Head Lane Junction, clearly a
more expensive exercise that fails to address safety concerns on the majority of that
section.
DISTANCE / TIME:





The increase in safety of our proposal far outweighs any minor distance/time difference
on both sections.
For example; our proposed extension to NYCC’s proposed Dog & Gun to Carr Head
Lane junction section is only 0.7 of a mile.
Also, it’s only 0.3 mile to include the S-Bends on the western section.
The extra time difference, by slowing from 60 (max NSL) to 40mph, is negligible.

IN SUMMARY:


We all agree that there are clear road traffic dangers that need addressing.

Page 102
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE




Appendix E
Real-world issues require real-world solutions and the CPC‘s view is that this proposal
fails to solve the majority of the known dangers and, in at least one place, arguably,
introduces more danger than already exists.
CPC’s proposal may actually cost less and uses clear evidence and sound arguments.

Officer comment
Officers have met with the police and the Parish Council to discuss the issues raised. It has
been clarified that the speed limit proposals are only part of the solution and further work is
ongoing to develop an appropriate engineering solution to mitigate the issues at the east end
of the village.

Comment 4 - Cowling 4#30 Speed Group
We, as the Cowling 4#30 Speed Group, have closely collaborated with the Cowling Parish
Council and formally submit our full support for the objection to this proposal for the same
reasons listed in the Parish Council response.
We have raised the dangers of the various sections of road with yourselves, the Speed
Partnership, North Yorkshire Police, NYCC and Highways several times over the past two
years, and have recently requested to meet with members of the Speed Partnership to work
towards meaningful outcomes.
We are surprised that, without meeting with us as requested, this proposal was put forward
as it clearly misses the major issues we have been highlighting for nearly 2 years, and in fact
for 2 decades. It would appear the dangers have not been fully understood.
We request again that the Speed Partnership and other involved parties consult
meaningfully with the residents of Cowling, the Cowling Parish Council and ourselves with
the aim of arriving at a workable outcome that has a better chance of success.
Officer comment
Officers have met with the police and the Parish Council to discuss the issues raised.
Engagement with residents has also taken place. It is the view of officers that meaningful
consultation has taken place, The speed limit proposals are only part of the solution and
further work is ongoing to develop and appropriate engineering solution to mitigate the
issues at the east end of the village.

Comment 5 - Resident
I am writing with regards the plans for traffic calming speed restrictions on the A6068 from
Glusburn and through Cowling.
In the two years I have lived here I have observed:
1 Speeding along these stretches of roads
2 Dangerous overtaking at the acceleration point near the dog and gun
3 Overtaking on the wrong side of the bollards
4 Terrible driving conditions during rainfall, particularly affecting cars driving downhill
5 The pavement is narrow along this road and pedestrians are close to the traffic (especially
worrying for HGV travelling downhill at 60mph)
6 Farm traffic using slower, heavier vehicles for essential farming work

Page 103
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
You will be aware that during one of the episodes of bad weather a young woman sadly lost
her life near our house in a section of road that will still be 60mph under the current plan.
The proposed speed limit changes near the Dog and Gun should, to an extent, protect the
new housing at Malsis, the Dog and Gun car park and the junction with Carr Head Lane but I
am concerned that this creates a shorter (0.7 mile) stretch for those that wish to accelerate
and overtake which may even increase risk taking by drivers travelling in each direction, risk
to drivers travelling at less than 60mph and pedestrians.
The difference between 40mph and 60mph is 20 seconds over 0.7 miles and those
determined to overtake at 60mph, uphill, and on a bend will have less than a minute to
attempt the manoeuvre.
In my view the only safe option is a speed limit of 40mph with no overtaking lines from the
Dog and Gun to Cowling.
At the upper end of Cowling I would also suggest that on a busy road, with residential areas
close by, blind curves, difficult junctions, a narrow footpath and a hill it is inappropriate to be
travelling at more than 40mph or overtaking on Keighley Road anywhere between a point
west of the junction with Reedshaw Lane and Moss End Lane (a cross roads) and Cowling.
Again, I’m aware that there have been wall demolishing crashes on the bends in this area
involving cars that have failed to appreciate the challenges of controlling a car in difficult
conditions driving at speed (usually) down a hill around bends.
Officer comment
Officers have met with the police and the Parish Council to discuss the issues raised. It has
been clarified that the speed limit proposals are only part of the solution and further work is
ongoing to develop and appropriate engineering solution to mitigate the issues at the east
end of the village.

Comment 6 – Resident
I am objecting to the above proposals due to the fact it will not do anything to slow the traffic
down in Cowling.
From the proposed 30mph limit at Carr Head Lane to the 30mph speed limit on the eastern
approach to Cowling this should be 40mph to slow traffic before it enters Cowling.
On the western approach to Cowling the 40mph limit should be from Green Syke due to the
number of accidents on the bends between Green Syke and Park Lane.
Officer comment
Extending the 40mph speed limit between villages does not comply with the
Department for Transport recommendations when setting speed limits which must be
appropriate for the environment.
Comment 7 - Resident
I write to inform you of my full support for the proposed introduction of a 40mph speed limit
on the A6068 Colne Road Cowling & Glusburn.
The news of this reduction in the speed limit in both areas mentioned is most welcome
indeed. Having operated our business in Cowling for over fifteen years & located along side
the A6068 at the Colne side of the village, my view has always been that the speed limit
should be reduced. I have personally witnessed many moments of dangerous driving along
this fast section of road & in my view it's only a matter of time before a serious incident
happens.

Page 104
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
I also use the junction at the end of Carr Head Lane frequently & as I mention above, fully
support the reduction in the speed limit here too.
I very much look forward to this proposal being rightly implemented.
Officer comment
Comments noted

Comment 8 - CC Philip Barrett (County Councillor for South Craven)
As the County Cllr. for South Craven Division I would like to give my full support for this
proposal which will improve road safety both to the approach to and leaving Glusburn. The
inclusion of the A6068/ Carr Head Lane junction in the 40mph limit is also a very welcome
proposal where some vehicles currently overtake and increase road safety risks.
Officer comment
Comments noted

Comment 9 - Resident
I support this proposal because this is a very dangerous road to cross when getting the kids
to school.
However I dont think this proposal goes far enough to combat the issue of accidents on the
S bends on the Moss further up the A6068.
Introducing the 40mph limit before the bends might prevent more deaths and traffic
accidents, I have seen many bad accidents on these bends.
It seems stupid to have traffic slowing from 60-40 at the end of park lane where many
children cross to get to school.
Officer comment
There is an advisory 40mph limit through the bends in a westbound direction but not in the
Eastbound direction. This will be looked at.
Comment 10 - NYCC Traffic Engineering
Thanks for the opportunity to comment on the consultation. I am supportive of these
proposals.
Officer comment
Comments noted

Comment 11 - NYCC Passenger Transport
With regard to the proposed 40 mph speed limit at Glusburn and Cowling. Integrated
Passenger Transport support the proposals as being advantageous to the safe operation of
public service vehicles and their stopping movements.
Officer comment
Comments noted

Page 105
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E
Comment 12 - Glusburn & Crosshills Parish Council
I can confirm that Glusburn & Crosshills Parish Council have no objections and are
supportive of this proposal.
Officer comment
Comments noted
Comment 13 – North Yorkshire Police
I’ve read the proposals for the introduction of the 40mph speed limits on the A6068 to the
west of Cowling (including Nan Scar) and to the west of Glusburn, the later in anticipation of
the residential development at Malsis Hall. I can confirm the North Yorkshire Police have no
objections.

Page 106
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix F

Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality to a proposal, and a
decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or proportionate.

Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

BES
H&T
Introduction of a 40mph speed limit on the A6068 at
Glusburn and Cowling

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

David Cairns
To introduce a 40mph speed limit on the A6068 at
Glusburn and Cowling.

Why are you proposing this? What are the
desired outcomes?

To reduce traffic speeds and improve road safety for
all road users and to comply with the County
Council’s duty under Section 122(1) of the Road
Traffic Act 1984.

Does the proposal involve a significant
No
commitment or removal of resources?
Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse impact or you
have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried out where this is
proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t know/No
info available











Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income



NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed limit

Page 107
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix F

Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area where
there are known inequalities/probable
impacts (e.g. disabled people’s access to
public transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant effect
on how other organisations operate? (e.g.
partners, funding criteria, etc.). Do any of
these organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please explain
why you have reached this conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)


No.

No impact

EIA not
relevant or
proportionate:



Continue to full
EIA:

Reason for decision

The proposed 40mph speed limit will have no
negative impact on people with protected
characteristics(or NYCCs additional characteristics)
and will enable the County Council to comply with
its duties under Section 122 of the Road Traffic
Regulation Act 198a4 and Section 16 of the Traffic
Management Act 2004. The proposed measures will
be of benefit to many road users.

Signed (Assistant Director or equivalent)

Barrie Mason

Date

16 May 2022

NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed limit

Page 108

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix G
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 109

However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal

A6068 Glusburn and Cowling Proposed 40mph speed restriction

Brief description of proposal

To introduce a 40mph speed limit on west approach to Glusburn on the A6068 and
on the west approach to Cowling on the A6068

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

BES
Highways & Transportation
David Cairns
David Cairns – Project Engineer Area 5 Skipton Highways Office
5TH April 2022
NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed restriction

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix G

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
No other options were considered

Page 110

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Impact will be cost neutral. Speed restriction will be monitored by the police.

NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed restriction

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Emissions x
from travel

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Page 111

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Appendix G
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Reduction in traffic speeds
x

n/a

x

n/a

x

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

x
x

Reduction in traffic speeds

NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed restriction

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Appendix G
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Page 112

x

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and wildlife

x

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape
Other (please state below)

x

x

Positive impact for the residents and
pedestrians on the roads, less emissions.

NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed restriction

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix G
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

None

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The speed restriction will have a small positive impact on reducing emissions in the area and safe passage to pedestrians and travelling public. Costs to install
road signage is minimal and enforcement carried out by the police during their normal duties.

Page 113

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

David Cairns
Project Engineer
H&T
BES
D.Cairns
05/04/2022

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 16 May 2022

NYCC – 27th May 2022 – Executive Members
A6068 Cowling & Glusburn – Proposed 40mph speed restriction

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek approval of the methodology to be used to assess potential cycle corridors
to prioritise for the Harrogate LCWIP.

2.0

Background

2.1

In 2017 North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) commissioned WSP to develop a
Cycling Infrastructure Plan (CIP) for Harrogate (HCIP). The plan was created to
operate as the basis for future bid work, influence junction design and highway
schemes, and guide new development and developer contributions in creating a
cohesive and safe cycle network.

2.2

The development of the CIP was detailed in the Harrogate CIP Phase 1 report, and
four priority corridors were identified for further development in Phase 2.

2.3

The objective of Phase 2 was to take the priority corridors forward for initial
development and generate high-level costs and economic benefits.

2.4

The identification of these four priority corridors acts as the first phase of network
development. The HCIP Phase 2 report recommended that additional corridors, from
HCIP are taken forward for further development, and these corridors should be
identified using appropriate stakeholder engagement.

2.5

In early 2021, NYCC officers started to look at the additional corridors indicated on
the HCIP cycle network map in more detail with key stakeholders. The aim was to
develop a list of cycling route priorities in the short, medium and long term as per the
guidance for stage five of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)
process.

2.6

The LCWIP process consists of six stages:
1.
2.

3.

4.

Determining Scope; Establish the geographical extent of the LCWIP
and arrangements for governing and preparing the plan.
Gathering Information; Identify existing patterns of walking and
cycling and potential new journeys. Review existing conditions and
identify barriers to cycling and walking. Reviewing related transport
and land use policies and programmes.
Network Planning for Cycling; Identify origin and destination points
and cycle flows. Convert flows into a network of routes and determine
the type of improvements required.
Network Planning for Walking; Identify key trip generators, core
walking zones and routes, audit existing provision and determine the
type of improvements required.

Page 115 NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members

Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.
6.

Prioritising Improvements; Prioritise improvements to develop a
phased programme for future investment.
Integration and Application; Integrate outputs into local planning
and transport policies, strategies, and delivery plans.

2.7

The walking element of the Harrogate LCWIP was completed in December 2020.
The Walking Infrastructure Plan (WIP) and CIP are two separate documents but in
conjunction do form a LCWIP for Harrogate.

2.8

When an opportunity to refresh these documents occurs in the future, we will merge
them together to form one document.

2.9

The methodology referred to in this report is only related to the cycling element of the
LCWIP.

3.0

Methodology

3.1

To assess these corridors in more detail and to measure baseline and forecast cycle
growth, officers used the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT). The national PCT is an
online and interactive planning support tool to provide an evidence base to inform
investment in cycling.

3.2

Within the LCWIP guidance, it is strongly recommended that authorities make use of
the PCT through the LCWIP process in order to define potential demand for cycling
and to assist with scheme prioritisation.

3.3

The PCT gives information about the levels of cycling to work (commuter trips) based
on Census 2011 data and school travel journeys based on School Census 2010/11
data. The Census 2011 data is the most up to date data available to calculate
commuting journeys. The Census 2021 results are not due for release until summer
2022, and it may take even longer before the results are integrated into the PCT
model.

3.4

The PCT core input dataset contains origin-destination (OD) pairs that link each
commuter’s usual place of residence to the workplace location of their main job, and
disaggregates these OD pairs by commute mode.

3.5

Officers can therefore assess where commuting/school cycling is currently most
common, and where cycling has the greatest potential to grow.

3.6

A comprehensive list of cycle corridors has been created for Harrogate (based on the
original HCIP cycle network map) and PCT data analysed to assess baselines and
various future scenarios, including the Government target scenario to double cycling
by 2025.

3.7

The Government Target (near market) scenario within PCT models the overall
doubling of cycling based on trip distance and hilliness plus various
sociodemographic and geographical characteristics (including age, sex, ethnicity, car
ownership, and income deprivation).

3.8

Applying this scenario and others to corridors across Harrogate indicates where cycle
growth will occur should investment in cycle infrastructure be made.

3.9

Alongside this data (forecast cycle trips), other criteria has been used to evaluate and
prioritise corridors for inclusion within the stage five of the LCWIP, including;


Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS) 2017

Page 116

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE













Proximity to existing, new and proposed housing (including allocated sites
within the Local Plan)
Whether the route serves employment or education
Improvement in road safety
Contribution of the scheme to the overall network development (including
routes identified within the WIP)
Identified funding
Scheme feasibility/deliverability
Integration with other schemes / dependency on other schemes
Local knowledge from key stakeholders
Public acceptability
Delivery against policy objectives
Air quality impact

3.10

A final priority list is nearing completion, with infrastructure solutions identified for
each corridor that meet the most recent cycle infrastructure design guidance (LTN
1/20).

4.0

Next Steps

4.1

Once the Corporate Director, BES and the BES Executive Members have approved
the methodology for determining the priority corridors and officers complete analysis
of the remaining corridors, a prioritised programme of cycling infrastructure
improvements can be added to the Harrogate LCWIP.

4.2

A workshop with key stakeholders and colleagues from Harrogate Borough Council is
planned to agree the priority corridors identified through the methodology before a
recommendation to BES Executive Members is made.
The improvements will be split into three prioritisation categories; Short term (typically
under 3 years), Medium term (typically under 5 years) and Long term (typically over 5
years).

4.3

Once stage five of the LCWIP is complete, work to integrate the LCWIP into local
policy, strategies and plans can be formalised (stage 6).

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

The tools used to prioritise the cycle corridors within stage 5 of the LCWIP are free to
use and as such there are no financial implications.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equalities impacts
arising from the recommendations of this report. It is the view of officers that the
recommendations included in this report do not have any adverse impacts on any of
the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010 or NYCC’s additional
agreed characteristics. However, it is worth noting that fully developed schemes will
require a full Equalities Impact Assessment. The completed Equalities Impact
Assessment screening form can be found in Appendix A.

6.2

The LCWIPs will support a transport system fit for all users, making cycling and walking
routes more accessible and inclusive. The creation of the corridors identified in the
LCWIPs is likely to have a positive impact on people with reduced mobility providing
safer access routes within Harrogate.

Page 117 NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members

Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7.0

Climate Change Impact Assessment

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse impacts on climate
change arising from the recommendations of this report. The completed Climate
Change Impact Assessment can be found in Appendix B and it is the view of officers
that approval of this report will not have a direct climate change impact.

8.0

Legal Implications

8.1

Preparation of these plans is part of the County Council’s function as Local Highway
Authority and the LCWIPs are being carried out in broad accordance with the
Government’s suggested Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan guidance LTN
1/20.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services, in consultation with the BES Executive Members:
i)
Note the content of the report and approve the proposed methodology to be
used to assess potential cycle corridors to complete stage five of the Harrogate
LCWIP.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Business and Environmental Services
Authors of Report: Alexander Kay
Background Documents: None

Page 118

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Harrogate Cycle Network Development –
Prioritisation Methodology

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Alexander Kay
Formalise the methodology to assess potential
cycle corridors in Harrogate and prioritise a list
for improvement.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Approval of this method will enable to the County
Council to undertake stage 5 of the Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plan process and
compile a list of priorities to be in a better
position to bid for money towards schemes and
receive contributions from developers.

Does the proposal involve a
No
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact
or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried
out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for
advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse
impact
Yes
No

Don’t know/No
info available











Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas



Page 119 NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members

Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.



Unknown at this stage, this process will look
to prioritise corridors for improvements.
There would be a further requirement for EIA
as part of any detailed design process.

Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

No

Reason for decision

EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
No adverse impact on any of the protected
characteristics.
The LCWIPs will support a transport system fit
for all users, making cycling and walking routes
more accessible and inclusive. The creation of
the corridors identified in the LCWIPs is likely to
have a positive impact on people with reduced
mobility providing safer access routes within
Harrogate
However, it is worth noting that any fully
developed schemes will require a full Equalities
Impact Assessment.

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

Barrie Mason
18 May 2022

Page 120

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Version 2: amended 11 August 2021

Page 121

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.
Title of proposal

Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology

Brief description of proposal

To seek approval of the methodology used to prioritise cycle infrastructure
improvements in Harrogate.
Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Alexander Kay

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

08/04/22

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
This project will deliver stage 5 of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan for Harrogate in line with Government policy and
guidance. As this is the process for developing cycling and walking infrastructure, no other alternative options were considered.

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
Once the priority list of schemes has been developed, these will remain draft until funding becomes available from central government, s106
monies or any other suitable funding source.

Page 122
NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Page 123

Minimise
greenhouse gas
emissions e.g.
reducing emissions
from travel,
increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Emissions
from travel

x

Emissions
from
construction

x

Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Emissions
from data
storage
Other

x

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g.
reducing use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

Appendix B
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

Stage 5 of the LCWIP process is the
prioritisation of cycling and walking
schemes and does not involve
physical construction at this point.

x

x
x

x
x

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any
negative impacts.
Where possible/relevant please
include:
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Page 124

Ensure resilience to the effects
of climate change e.g. reducing
flood risk, mitigating effects of
drier, hotter summers
Enhance conservation and
wildlife

x

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

x

Other (please state below)

x

Appendix B
Explain how you
plan to improve any
positive outcomes
as far as possible.

x

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.
N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The output of stage 5 of the LCWIP process is the production of a prioritised programme of cycling and walking infrastructure improvements.
The improvements will prioritised into three categories; short term, medium term and long term, however the implementation of schemes will
still be funding dependant. Subsequent phases of this work will need to be assessed, especially when funding has been secured to begin
delivering interventions.

Page 125

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Alexander Kay
Senior Transport Planning Officer
Highways and Transportation
BES
A Kay
11.04.22

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 18 May 2022

NYCC – 27 May 2022 «date»– Executive Members
Harrogate Cycle Network Development – Prioritisation Methodology/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
27 May 2022
NYCC Cycle Design Guide
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To seek approval from the Corporate Director, Business Environmental Services in
consultation with the BES Executive Member for Access for the use of the NYCC
Cycle Design Guide as a local guide to support the use of LTN 1/20 in North
Yorkshire.

2.0

Background

2.1

In July 2020 the Government published Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20),
comprising national guidance and good practice to highway authorities and designers
on cycle infrastructure design. It is aimed to apply to highway improvements, new
highway construction and new or improvements to cycle facilities. This was published
alongside Gear Change, a policy document which sets out the Government’s
ambitions for a travel revolution for walking and cycling.

2.2

LTN 1/20 provides guidance and good practice for the design of cycle infrastructure
and it is an expectation that local authorities will demonstrate that they have given
due consideration to this guidance when designing new cycling schemes and, in
particular, when applying for Government funding for schemes that include cycle
infrastructure.

2.3

Gear Change announced a new commissioning body and inspectorate, Active Travel
England, led by a Cycling and Walking Commissioner. Once established, this body
will examine applications for funding and ‘refuse any that are not compliant with the
new national LTN 1/20 standards’.

3.0

NYCC Cycle Design Guide

3.1

North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) commissioned WSP to produce a Cycle
Design Guide to support the use of LTN 1/20 in the context of North Yorkshire. The
design guide supports this by:

Describing the needs of cyclists and ensuring they can be catered for in a rural
county;

Signposting to LTN 1/20 and other specific guidance and standards where
applicable; and

Providing examples of good practice in a variety of scenarios.

3.2

Planners, designers and builders of any new streets, houses, large developments
and any new transport infrastructure can use this guide for inspiration and quick
reference; it does not replace LTN 1/20 nor remove any statutory responsibility, but
will help to simplify the guidance for the reader in a manner appropriate for the
varying environments of North Yorkshire.

Page 127
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /1

3.3

As the design guide developed, WSP consulted NYCC officers to inform the work,
ensuring the final product would be informative, usable and tailored to local
conditions. NYCC involvement included officers from Transport Planning, Area
Teams and Development Management.

3.4

The guide itself (see Appendix A) is divided into eight sections. Sections 1 and 2
introduce the purpose of the guide, who the guidance is for and the policy
background for LTN 1/20. Section 3 examines Place & Movement, understanding the
different functions of streets and roads based on different characteristics. Section 4
explores the needs of cyclists, of all ages and abilities, to allow the reader to identify
and understand who they are providing for. Sections 5 to 7 provides more specific
guidance for particular situations, based on the types of street that are of interest.
These are broken down into three key areas: ‘Within Towns’, ‘Between and Around
Towns’, and ‘New Developments’. Finally, Section 8 provides links to a list of further
guidance, including national guidance, NYCC publications and new developments.

3.5

Once prepared, a draft version of the Cycle Design Guide was shared internally to
teams within NYCC where the design guide is of relevance for consultation and
comment, as well with Harrogate District Cycle Action (HDCA). Comments were used
to help finalise the draft design guide.

4.0

Next Steps

4.1

Should this guide be approved it can be used by NYCC officers and developers to
support the use and interpretation of LTN 1/20 within North Yorkshire.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. As LTN 1/20
guidance is expected to be a consideration when applying for Government funding
for cycle infrastructure, it is intended that the use of the NYCC Cycle Design Guide
as a local guide for supporting the use of LTN 1/20 in North Yorkshire will assist
NYCC to interpret and deliver to this standard. This, in return should be beneficial in
securing external funding in the future.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

An Initial Equalities Impact Assessment is included with this report (see Appendix B).
The Assessment finds that the proposals will have no negative impact on people with
protected or a combination of protected characteristics.

7.0

Climate Change Impact Assessment

7.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment is included with this report (see Appendix C)
and the approval and use of the Cycle Design Guide will not have a negative impact
on the environment. By supporting the use of LTN 1/20 guidance in the design of
cycle infrastructure, it can deliver attractive and accessible infrastructure to enable a
wider range of users to cycle. As a result, the use of LTN 1/20 can support more
journeys to be taken by bicycle and therefore have a positive impact on the
environment by reducing transport-related emissions.

Page 128
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /2

8.0

Legal Implications

8.1

Introducing the NYCC guide and the related LTN 1/20 guidance does not alter the
requirements of and powers contained in highways and planning legislation that
relate to the improvement/creation of cycle infrastructure. However it will have
implications on the requirements of designing works and schemes to comply with
those legislative requirements.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services, in consultation with the BES Executive Member for access:
i)
Approve the use of the NYCC Cycle Design Guide as a local guide for
supporting the use of LTN 1/20 in North Yorkshire.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Business and Environmental Services
Authors of Report: Will Britton
Background Documents:

None

Page 129
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /3

Appendix B
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality to a
proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or proportionate.

Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Seek approval to use the NYCC Cycle Design
Guide as a local guide for supporting the use of
LTN 1/20 in North Yorkshire.

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

William Britton
Provide a guide for supporting the use of LTN 1/20
cycle design standards within North Yorkshire
Approval of the use of this guide will support
NYCC officers and developers to interpret,
understand and use LTN 1/20 cycle design
standards, as set out by the Department for
Transport.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

No
Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates
to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep
for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income

No

Don’t know/No
info available













Page 130
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /4

Appendix B
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date


The updated LTN 1/20 cycle design standards
have been designed to overcome inequalities
by promoting inclusive design and accessibility
within its core design principles

No

EIA not
 Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
This report outlines the use of the NYCC Cycle
Design Guide which supports the use of the DfT
LTN 1/20 cycle design standards. The LTN 1/20
standards document makes significant reference
to ensuring that designs consider the needs of
disabled users. Ultimately, the document should
result in a more convenient and safer experience
for people with mobility issues.

Barrie Mason
15/03/22

Page 131
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /5

Appendix C
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 132

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

NYCC Cycle Design Guide
Seek approval to use the NYCC Cycle Design Guide as a local guide for supporting
the use of LTN 1/20 in North Yorkshire
BES
Highways and Transportation
William Britton
17/01/2022

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /6

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options
were not progressed.
This project was commissioned to produce a Cycle Design Guide to support the use of LTN 1/20 in the context of North Yorkshire. No other
alternative options were considered.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The approval of this Cycle Design Guide will not directly impact council budgets, it is designed to be used to help interpret, understand and use
the Department for Transport’s LTN 1/20 cycle design guidance.

Page 133

LTN 1/20 provides guidance and good practice for the design of cycle infrastructure and it is an expectation that local authorities will demonstrate
that they have given due consideration for the guidance when designing new cycling schemes and, in particular, when applying for Government
funding that includes cycling infrastructure. This means that LTN 1/20 will be an important consideration when seeking future government funding
for cycling infrastructure.
As LTN 1/20 seeks to deliver higher-quality provision of cycling infrastructure compared with previous guidance, it is possible that compliant
infrastructure may have a higher cost than more basic infrastructure designed to standards of pre-LTN 1/20 guidance.

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /7

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Page 134

Minimise greenhouse Emissions *
gas emissions e.g. from travel
reducing emissions
from travel, increasing
energy efficiencies
etc.
Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption

Appendix C
Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
Where possible/relevant please include:
as far as possible.
 Changes over and above
business as usual
 Evidence or measurement of
effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents
Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include
all potential impacts over the
lifetime of a project and provide
an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Delivering improved cycle infrastructure
can support modal shift away from cars to
cycling, particularly for short journeys. This
has a positive impact by reducing
transport-related greenhouse gas
emissions.
*
*

*
*
*

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /8

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

Appendix C
Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
Where possible/relevant please include:
as far as possible.
 Changes over and above
business as usual
 Evidence or measurement of
effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents
Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
l
t)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include
all potential impacts over the
lifetime of a project and provide
an explanation.

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Page 135

Delivering improved cycle infrastructure
can support modal shift away from cars to
cycling, particularly for short journeys. This
has a positive impact by reducing air
pollution.

*

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier,
hotter summers

*

Enhance conservation and
wildlife
Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

*
*

Other (please state below)

*

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /9

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Appendix C
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets
those standards.
N/A
Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The approval of this Cycle Design Guide will enable its use as a tool to help interpret and use LTN 1/20 in North Yorkshire. The approval and use
of the guide itself will not have an impact on the environment.
By supporting the use of LTN 1/20 guidance in the design of cycle infrastructure, it can deliver attractive and accessible infrastructure to enable a
wider range of users to cycle. As a result, the use of LTN 1/20 can support more journeys to be taken by bicycle and therefore have a positive
impact on the environment by reducing transport-related emissions.

Page 136

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

William Britton
Transport Planning Officer
Highways and Transport
BES
W Britton
17/01/2022

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 15/03/22

NYCC – 27 May 2022 - Executive Members
NYCC Cycle Design Guide /10

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Cycle Design Guide
Applying Best Practice Cycle Infrastructure Design
Across North Yorkshire
Page 137

North Yorkshire County Council
March 2022

CONTENTS

Page 138

1. Introduction

2

2. What is this guidance and who is it for?

3

3. The functions of streets and roads

5

4. The needs of cyclists

8

5. Within towns

11

6. In and around towns

18

7. New developments

24

8. Where to look for further guidance

27

1

1 INTRODUCTION

Page 139

As cycling increases in North Yorkshire, it is
essential to create spaces that are
attractive, appropriate for the landscape
and townscape, and predictable for users
across the county. The benefits of more
people choosing to cycle for short journeys
cannot be understated, and extend to
cyclists and non-cyclists alike: better
health, less air pollution, more social
interaction as towns focus on people
rather than cars, and ultimately room for
public transport and for people and goods
that have to travel by car, van, lorry or other
motorised mode.
The publication of Local Transport Note
1/20 offers clear expectations for roads and
public spaces designed for use by all. This
Cycle Design Guide gives practical
examples of its application in North
Yorkshire.
LTN 1/20 was published alongside Gear
Change, which ‘sets out a vision for a travel
revolution in England's streets, towns and
communities.’
Gear
Change
announced
a
new
commissioning body and inspectorate,
Active Travel England, led by a Cycling and
Walking Commissioner. This body will
‘examine all applications for funding and
refuse any that are not compliant with the
new national LTN 1/20 standards’.

In addition it will be a statutory consultee
on major planning applications. The recent
Gear Change One Year On publication
strengthened this approach to funding,
promising additional funds but reminding
applicants that active travel must have a
focus in all transport funding, not just
those schemes designed primarily for the
purpose of active travel.
In Summer 2021, the Department for
Transport announced that Dame Sarah
Storey, the most successful female British
Paralympian thus far, had been appointed
as a Non-Executive Director, helping to
ensure
that
walking
and
cycling
considerations are
integral
to
the
Department’s
wider
policies,
and
reminding all Authorities of their duties
under the Equality Act.
North Yorkshire’s commitment to healthy
people and communities in its Local
Transport Plan, and commitment to active
travel infrastructure through Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plans aligns
with this new national approach to
planning and funding cycling schemes,
and moves us to an exciting chapter in
making streets and towns useable for all,
helping everybody choose the right mode
of travel for the journey length and
purpose.
a
2

2 WHAT IS THIS GUIDANCE AND WHO IS IT FOR?
Purpose of this document

Page 140

The aim of this guide is to support the use
of Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) in
the context of North Yorkshire by:
• Supporting the goals of North
Yorkshire’s Transport Plan and policies;
• Describing the needs of cyclists and
ensuring they can be catered for in a
rural county;
• Signposting to LTN 1/20 and other
specific guidance and standards where
applicable; and
• Providing examples of good practice in
a variety of scenarios.

Planners, designers, and builders of new
streets, houses, large developments, and
any new transport infrastructure can use
this guide for inspiration and quick
reference. This document will not replace
LTN 1/20 nor remove any statutory
responsibilities, but will instead help
simplify the guidance for the reader in a
manner appropriate for the varying
environments across North Yorkshire.
Key national guidance and policy

Gear Change was published in July 2020
and is England’s policy and strategy
statement on cycling in particular and
active travel more broadly. The document
presents ‘a vision for a travel revolution in
England's streets, towns and communities’
a

and describes the requirements for Local
Authorities and Highway Authorities. Its
four main themes are:
• Theme 1: Better streets for cycling and
people;
• Theme 2: Cycling at the heart of
decision-making;
• Theme 3: Empowering and encouraging
Local Authorities; and
• Theme 4: Enabling people to cycle and
protecting them when they do.
The advantages of increased active travel
are described as:
• Increased health;
• Increased wellbeing;
• Decreased congestion;
• Improved conditions for local
businesses;
• Improvements to the environment and
air quality;
• Negating climate change; and
• Economic benefits

• Inspecting highway authorities; and
• Reviewing major planning applications
to ensure walking and cycling is
embedded within the proposals.
Gear Change promises funding for
aspirational
schemes,
and
suggests
funding may be withheld from highways
or active travel schemes where the design
means the likelihood of increased active
travel is low. This commitment was
confirmed in the Gear Change One Year
On Review, published in August 2021. It
reminds readers: “As Gear Change said, an
authority’s performance on active travel
will help determine the wider funding
allocations it receives, not just on active
travel. We will require more from all local
authorities, urban or rural, but we will not
take a one-size-fts-all approach.”
commitment

Part of the changes described includes a
new inspectorate, Active Travel England,
which will be led by a Cycling and Walking
Commissioner.
This
body
will
be
accountable for:
• Overseeing an active travel budget;
• Approving and inspecting schemes;
• Training;
• Publishing
and
supporting
good
practice;
• Knowledge sharing;
3

LTN
1/20
also
reemphasises
this
commitment, stating that any transport
scheme where there is demand for cycling
and walking that fails to meet the design
standards will be unlikely to obtain central
funding.

Page 141

A recent update to the Highway Code for
2021 supports the policy position in Gear
Change, formalising a hierarchy of
responsibility amongst road-users, with
those in charge of larger and heavier
vehicles having greater responsibility to
recognise vulnerability of other road-users.
A significant change is that pedestrians
waiting to cross a road will have priority
over cyclists or drivers in the road, putting
them at the top of the street user
hierarchy.
Using this document
Section 3 of this guidance introduces the
importance of Place & Movement within
the context of North Yorkshire, giving
examples and definitions of the different
functions streets fulfil, from town centres
where people congregate, to busy high
streets carrying both through and local
traffic, and inter-urban arterials. The Street
Typology Grid can be used to identify the
type of street of interest, and then direct
the reader to the relevant report section,
including case studies illustrating example
approaches to different situations.
Section 4 discusses the needs of cyclists,
of all ages and abilities, allowing the reader
to identify and understand who

they’re providing for. The chapter briefly
summarises the initial sections of LTN 1/20
and Gear Change, establishing basic
principles and requirements and provides
a glossary of the type of suitable cycle
infrastructure that should be considered
for implementation across North Yorkshire

Sections 5 to 7 give more specific guidance
for
particular
situations.
Having
determined which types of street are of
interest, the reader will find chapters that
focus on the following three key areas:
Within towns
This guidance concentrates on journeys
that are often undertaken by car but could
be done by bicycle. These are generally
trips of under 30 minutes / 5 miles, within
towns: These might be trips to shops and
to see friends, trips to rail or bus stations to
make longer journeys, or trips to work or
school. The streets within towns that
enable these trips often have the greatest
usage and competing demands, and will
more often be the focus of funding
opportunities.

can help influence the forecast increase.
Given its rural nature, North Yorkshire has
both ‘blue’ and ‘green’ infrastructure –
routes alongside water, like canal paths,
and rural routes, or ‘greenways’ following
PROWs or disused railway lines - that are
often used by pedestrians and cyclists (and
horse riders) and form a key part of the
inter-urban network.
New developments

New
developments
offer
significant
opportunities to establish or integrate
active travel networks, connecting to
existing infrastructure and designing
within developments to make active travel
the natural choice when considering
journey distance and purpose.
commitment
commitment

Between and around towns

Longer distance routes, between and
around towns, are an important element in
connecting a rural county. People do
currently cycle between towns in North
Yorkshire, but often in fewer numbers and
for leisure purposes; this is expected to
grow in the future with an uptake in ebikes, and the guidance presented here
4

3 THE FUNCTIONS OF STREETS AND ROADS
Street Typology Grid
It is easy to consider streets the domain of
motorised traffic, when in fact we all use
streets differently, depending on the
design of the streetscape and our
respective needs. At different times, streets
may be used for:
• Commuting to the nearest town or city;
• Commuting to the nearest bus stop;

Page 142

• Chatting with neighbours;
• Moving goods and freight;
• Walking children to school;

• Window shopping; and
• Play and exercise.
There are many more uses of this
essentially public space. The Street
Typology Grid gives descriptions of streets,
defining typical characteristics of streets
that serve more of a ‘place’ function
(increasing left to right across the grid) or
more of a ‘movement’ function (increasing
from the bottom to the top of the grid).
Streets that are more ‘connectors’ than
‘centres’ will tend to be faster, wider, and
carry a larger volume of traffic, often at
speed.
As
historic
market
towns
developing around arterial trade routes,
North Yorkshire has a number of town
centre streets trying to maintain a
connector function

connector as well as a significant place
function, resulting in mixed purposes with
neither fully met.
The grid can be used to identify what type
of street is under consideration, or what
function it ought to hold in its setting. The
subsequent chapters then offer key design
consideration and case studies associated
with some of the grid squares and
adaptable to many others. Gear Change
and LTN 1/20 both indicate that the
forthcoming Manual for Streets (MfS)
refresh will include similar guidance on the
needs of all transport users and build upon
the principles of ‘Place & Movement’
presented in its first iteration. It is also
noted that LTN 1/20 supersedes MfS
guidance relating to cycling within urban
streets.
LTN 1/20 is emphatic in its guidance
regarding the level of protection required
within the highway in order to ensure
cycling is a viable option for travel; Chapter
3 of LTN 1/20 considers the needs of cyclists
and discusses ways to provide the
appropriate level of protection. Figure 3.1
(p.33) illustrates one of the most critical
considerations when designing for cyclists
within the highway, presenting the
requirements from LTN 1/20 regarding the
level of protection considered suitable
depending on the speed and volume of
motorised traffic present.
ab

Concerns about safety related to motor
vehicle traffic is the main reason why many
people do not cycle with 62% of adults
feeling that roads are unsafe for them to
cycle on . The need to address actual and
perceived safety concerns is particularly
important when seeking to create
environments where most people of all
ages will feel safe to cycle. As such,
providing the appropriate level of
separation from motor vehicle traffic is
important
when
planning
cycle
infrastructure.
Knowing when and how to separate cycle
traffic from general traffic depends on the
speed and volume of motor vehicle traffic
on the street. For example, on busier and
faster streets, such as connector and
distributor roads, many people will not feel
safe to cycle without separate and
protected infrastructure. However, on
quieter and slower streets, such as in
residential areas, many people will feel
comfortable mixing with motor vehicle
traffic on the carriageway.
A key point to note is that protected space
for cycling will enable most people to
cycle, regardless of the volume and speed
of motor vehicle traffic. Additionally,
streets that carry less than 2,500 PCU per
day with a speed limit of 20 mph can be
appropriate for mixing bicycle traffic with
motor vehicle traffic so .
5

that most people will feel safe to cycle.

Figure 3-1 – Guidance on suitable provision for conditions (LTN1/20 Ch4, p33)

Once traffic speeds exceed 20 mph then a level
of separation from motor traffic is required to
make the street feel safe for most people to cycle
on regardless of the traffic flows. For streets with
speeds of over 30mph then the highest level of
separation in the form of a protected cycle track
is required regardless of the traffic flows. Where a
high number of HGVs are present, greater levels
of segregation and careful design of junctions is
required.

Page 143

It is important to note that this table provides a
framework for the minimum level of provision
required for most people to cycle based on
motor traffic volume and speed. If there is an
opportunity to provide a type of infrastructure
that gives a higher level of service for cycle users,
then this should be considered. For example, on
a 20-mph link with flows of less than 4,000 PCU
per day while a cycle lane may be appropriate,
protected space for cycling would provide a
higher level of service and contribute towards a
more consistent network of protected space for
cycling.
NYCC has a 20mph speed limit and zone policy
which
can
be
used
to
support
the
implementation of 20mph zones where
appropriate.

6

Page 144

7

4 THE NEEDS OF CYCLISTS
There are five design principles which
represent the core requirements for people
wishing to travel by cycling.. Providing for
all five should provide the infrastructure
required to support significant modal shift:
• Coherence: Cycle networks should be
planned and designed to allow people
to reach their day to day destinations
easily, along routes that connect, are
simple to navigate and are of a
consistently high quality.

Page 145

• Directness: measured in time or
distance, cycle routes should not be less
direct than routes for motorised traffic.
• Safety and sense of safety: traffic
speeds and volumes affect safety and
the feel of cycling; however, off-road
routes and greenways may raise other
concerns about safety which should be
addressed.
• Attractiveness: cycling is often chosen
as an activity because it is (or can be)
pleasurable,
considering
journey
ambience, tranquillity, and materials /
maintenance.
• Comfort: providing adequate width
(considering cyclists movement or a
wider bike); smooth surfaces; and wellsigned

• signed routes contribute to all user’s
comfort.
LTN 1/20 provides two key tools to assess
each principle for links and junctions
respectively: the Cycling Level of Service
tool (for links) and Junction Assessment
Tool (for junctions and crossings).ab

2010 places a duty on public sector
authorities to comply with the Public
Sector Equality Duty in carrying out their
functions.
This
includes
making
reasonable adjustments to the existing
built environment to ensure the design of
new infrastructure is accessible to all.”

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Section 2.3, p18
− Section 5 describes a range of bicycles
and need

− Appendices A and B, pp172-184
Cycling for all

Cycling is a relatively inexpensive mode of
transport that has a wider demographic
reach than driving, making it an important
and relevant mode of transport. Cycling
can
provide
leisure
and
utility
opportunities for vulnerable road users
who may find walking inaccessible.
Designers and planners are therefore
reminded that cycles come in a wide
variety of shapes and sizes, and an
envelope of safety is required beyond the
width of a typical bicycle’s handlebars. LTN
1/20 further reminds local authorities that:
“Cycling should be accessible to people of
all ages and abilities. The Equality Act
2010

Coherence:
connect

routes

and

networks

that

The links and junctions of any given route
sit within a network, and provision of a
network that allows a user to comfortably
cycle to any destination is the overall aim
of cycling policy in general; all routes
should be designed to contribute towards
the creation of this network.
The
Local
Cycling
and
Walking
Infrastructure
Plans’
(LCWIP)
route
planning stage is a vital stage in identifying
potential routes and creating a cohesive
network.

.

8

Safety and sense of safety

Page 146

The single most important factor in
providing safe routes is segregation from
larger and faster forms of road traffic.
Substandard infrastructure that feel unsafe
is recognised as being unconducive to
creating modal shift, and unlocking
associated benefits in air quality, health,
and reduced congestion. Consideration of
this need to segregate can be the critical
factor in deciding whether to consider
alternative routes for cyclists; however,
where it is determined that streets should
have a greater ‘place’ function in a
network, it may be more appropriate to
divert vehicular traffic - often increasing
the footfall for local businesses and
bringing wider benefits for the streetscape.

essential consideration when creating a
high quality cycle network. This is of
particular importance when considering
new or returning cyclists, who may have
lower confidence and are more likely to
cycle on pleasant routes and for purposes
other than commuting.

Comfort and attractiveness covers key
factors such as
• Routes should be signposted and
predictable;
• People should expect a surface and
standard of design that makes cycling
smooth and minimises conflict; and

• Careful landscaping, design and lighting
should make the experience of cycling
feel pleasant and secure.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

Cycling: the need in North Yorkshire

− Sections 4 describes Design
Principles
− Section 5.5, p 42-43 gives required
widths

Despite the challenges in encouraging
cycle use in a rural county, and in
attracting investment to provide the right
infrastructure in the right places, North
Yorkshire’s policies and strategies (such as
LTP4 and the suite of LCWIPs), recognise
that increased cycle use can contribute
toward specific policy themes such as:

Comfort and attractiveness
The modal share for cycling, both
nationally and locally, is significantly lower
than almost any other recognised form of
transport. While perceptions of safety,
often caused by the lack of segregation, is
the main barrier to uptake in cycling,
ensuring that routes are both comfortable
and attractive to all users is still an
transport.

North Yorkshire also has a strong tourism
and leisure economy in towns and in more
rural areas. Cycling is recognised as an
asset to attract visitors from outside the
county and enable residents to enjoy their
surroundings.

• Improving safety and health;
• Reducing congestion;

Scarborough and Ryedale Community
Cycling

• Decarbonising transport; and
• Ensuring access for all.

9

Glossary of Cycle Infrastructure
This glossary presents examples of
commonly found cycle infrastructure that
could provide a high level of service for
cyclists under the right conditions.
Contraflow cycle route
Allows people cycling to
travel
in
the
opposite
direction to one-way motor
traffic and create additional
permeability.
Can
be
implemented with or without
lane markings depending on
traffic flows.

Page 147

Traffic calming/reduction
and 20mph
Traffic
calming
includes
features that physically or
psychologically slow traffic.
20mph zones should be selfenforcing, and will often
require physical measures in
addition to signage.
Modal filter / Low Traffic
Neighbourhood
A modal filter typically
consists of a bollard, planter,
or other barrier that allows
pedestrians,
cyclists,
and
occasionally public transport
to pass, but not other motor
traffic.
Low
Traffic
Neighbourhoods
often
deploy modal filters to
reduce the volume of motor
traffic through an area.

Segregated Cycle Path

A cycle facility physically
separated from the areas
used
by
motorists
and
pedestrians. It may be next
to, or completely away from
the carriageway.
Light Segregation
Vertical infrastructure that
can be placed within existing
traffic lanes (including cycle
lanes) to convert them to
protected space. They are
easy
to
install
and
comparatively cheap, and
can be used to trial a new
cycle path. Cyclists can leave
the path easily but vehicles
are prevented from entering.
Parallel / Tiger Crossing
A crossing similar to a zebra
crossing, which provides legal
priority for people cycling as
well as walking.

Continuous footway /
cycleway crossing

A method of reinforcing
pedestrian and cyclist priority
over
motor
vehicle
movements at side junctions.
Cycle parking

Secure cycle parking facilities
that are convenient, clearly
marked, overlooked and wellmaintained. These could be
in the form of stands, storage
lockers or hubs. Parking
should
be
provided
in
residential areas, at transport
interchanges and at key
destinations.
Public realm improvements

Measures that enhance the
‘place’ characteristics of a
street, including tree planting,
street art, paving, seating, and
other features to make public
spaces more attractive.
Shared use path

Wayfinding
Encompasses all of the ways
in which people orient
themselves
and
navigate
from place to place.

A footway converted to
legally permit cycling. Can
also refer to other places
where
cyclists
and
pedestrians
are
unsegregated, such as a
bridleway
or
Vehicle
Restricted Area.

10

5 WITHIN TOWNS
Introduction

Page 148

Within towns there are many trip origins
and destinations in close proximity and the
potential for the occurrence of short trips is
high. This in many cases presents an
increased propensity for such trips to be
made by cycle, as opposed to the car.

Accommodate safe and separate cycle
provision in addition to existing footway
and carriageway allocation. The latest
guidance recognises that cycles should be
treated as vehicles in their own right, albeit
with very different characteristics and
needs. In most circumstances, pedestrians
should not share with cyclists.

To facilitate cycle use in towns and urban
areas, cycling (and walking) permeability
should be maximised with direct and wellconnected routes that avoid constraints to
movement, such as indirect or no-through
routes (e.g. cul-de-sacs).

Where motor traffic flows are light and
speeds are limited to an average of 20mph
(or can be limited to 20mph as a smallscale intervention), most people are likely
to feel comfortable cycling on-carriageway
mixed in with motor traffic.

The context of the environment is
important to understand when planning
the type of cycle infrastructure required.
There are two key factors that should be
used to determine the appropriate
intervention for a given street:

In these cases, separate cycle provision is
not warranted. However, most people will
not feel comfortable where motor traffic
flows are higher than 2,500 vehicles per
day and speeds are greater than 20mph.

• The need to separate or mix with motor
vehicle traffic based on the speed and
volume of motor vehicle traffic using the
street; and

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

• The function of the street in terms of
movement and place.
Redesigning space to be shared and safe

−

Section 7.1.1, page 74

−

Figure 4.1, page 33

The street types within towns where these
conditions may be found, or could
potentially be created are:

• Access side road;
• Residential street;
• Town centre squares and spaces;
• Urban street; and

• Town centre street.
Where the motor traffic flow and speed
criteria are commensurate with the
current cycle provision, or this can be
achieved to make the part of the network
suitable for most people, there are several
design approaches that can be applied;
these are discussed in the subsequent
sections.

.

In many cases there is not the space within
the existing highway to accommodate
11

Traffic management & reducing use by
motor vehicles
Where motor vehicle traffic flows are too
high to enable cycling in mixed traffic
environments, there are several ways to
reduce flows to a suitable level. These
include:
•

Modal filters;

•

Bus gates;

•

Turning bans (with cycle exemptions);
and

•

One-way streets.

Page 149

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Sections 7.3–7.7, pages 77–82
Traffic management interventions will not
just impact on the link being considered,
but could also potentially have wider
impacts on the highway network.
Appropriate impact assessments should
therefore be undertaken.
However, when utilised effectively they can
transform individual links or areas of towns
into cycle friendly zones that can facilitate
cycling for all types of people and for a
range of purposes.

Design

Providing separate space to cycle

To ensure that town centre streets are safe
for cycling among motor vehicle traffic,
design techniques are required can be
used to prevent higher speeds by motor
vehicle traffic.

Where the appropriate conditions that
facilitate most people to cycle in mixed
traffic conditions are not present or cannot
be achieved, separate cycle facilities are
required.

Single carriageway widths of 7.3m are
often the standard approach to designing
carriageways in line with DMRB. However,
for streets designed for mixed bicycle and
motor vehicle traffic, this width can create
poor conditions for cycling due to the
potential for dangerously close overtaking
of bicycles while facilitating car users to
travel faster than a desirable 20mph speed
limit. speed
Narrower carriageways have been shown
to have the effect of reducing speed and if
the narrowing involves the use of surfaces
that appear unsuitable for driving on, the
speed reducing effect can be greater. The
use of median or edge strips can be used
for this purpose, helping to provide a
slower environment for mixed traffic
conditions while still allowing overtaking
width for motor vehicles if it is safe to do
so.

The types of cycle facility that can be
created within the highway corridor are:
• Fully kerbed cycle tracks: These provide
the highest level of provision with
separation from both the carriageway
and footway. Separation from the
carriageway can be provided by a kerb
or with softer interventions, such as
verges, tree planting or sustainable
drainage systems (SUDS). Provided they
are well constructed and maintained,
segregated tracks offer a high degree of
comfort for cycle users.

Figure 5-1 – Examples of visual narrowing

12

• Stepped cycle tracks: These are
vertically separated from the
carriageway and footway; this provides
less separation and protection than a
fully segregated cycle track, however,
they provide easier and more flexible
access to the kerbside.

• Light segregated cycle lanes: These
feature intermittent physical separation
features that provide additional
protection from motor traffic.

Page 150

• Cycle lanes: These are defined by either
a solid or intermittent white line and are
not protected from motor vehicle traffic
by physical separation.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Sections 6.2–6.4, page 51–66

The level of protection required for onhighway cycle facilities is dependent on
the speed and flow of motor vehicle traffic
as highlighted in Section 3.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Figure 4.1, page 33
Junctions and crossings

Junctions are critical points on the network
for cycles and pedestrians, and appropriate
infrastructure will improve safety and
comfort for users. The design of junctions
should consider the volume and speeds of
motor traffic, as well as the type, e.g. Urban
Street to Residential Access Street in
exactly the same manner as for a link (e.g.
segregation is required where flows exceed
2,500 vehicles per day and average speeds
are above 20mph). At quieter junctions it
will likely be appropriate to mix cycles with
motor traffic.
LTN 1/20 identifies how there are two
alternative
design
approaches
for
junctions:

• Separating cycle and motor traffic in
time or space; and
• Integrating cycle and motor traffic.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Sections 10.3.5–10.3.11, pages 97–98

Signalised junctions

At signalised junctions there are several
design approaches that can be utilised to
ensure that people can navigate the
junctions while cycling; each approach
must be considered against the current
and forecast future conditions present at
the junction. The JAT contained in
Appendix B of LTN 1/20 can assist the
designer
in
determining
which
intervention is likely to be the most
appropriate.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cycle bypasses;
Separate cycle phases;
Cycle and pedestrian-only stage;
Hold the left
Two stage right turn;
Cycle gate;
Early release; and
Advanced stop lines.
13

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Sections 10.6, pages 111–120

− Sections 10.5.2–10.5.6, pages 105–106

− Sections 10.5.7–10.5.30, pages 106–110

Priority Junctions

Where cycle tracks or lanes cross priority
junctions, it is important that cycle traffic
can cross the junction safely and without
losing priority. To achieve this, LTN 1/20
presents a range of priority junction design
options that are either:

Priority junctions can cause potential
issues for cycle users when traversing or
turning in and out of side roads.
Where cycles are mixed with other traffic,
for example, on an Access Side Road or
Residential Street, there are a range of
features that LTN 1/20 identifies can be
used to create safer junctions for cycle
users:

Page 151

•

Reducing all movements through a
junction to a single lane;

•

Adopting lane widths that allow cycle
users to take the secondary position or
(when traffic flows and speeds or allow)
the primary position;

• Fully set back – at least a car length (5m)
from the kerb line;
• Partially set back – less than a car length
from the kerb line; or

• Not set back – at the kerb line.

− Figure 10.13, page 106
Roundabouts

Roundabouts
can
be
particularly
hazardous for cycle users and account for a
significant proportion of cycle user
casualties.
Roundabouts are generally
designed for the smooth movement of
motor vehicles, often at the expense of
pedestrian and cycle traffic.
Key factors that make them hazardous are:
• Flared entries and exits;
• Multiple lane entries and exits;
• Wide circulatory carriageways; and
• High differences in speeds.
Making roundabouts safer for cycle users
can be achieved through the following
measures:

•

Tight corner radii and raise entry
treatments or wider junction tables
that slow vehicles;

•

Banning one or more turning
movements that conflict with major
cycling flows;

• Remodel the junction as a Compact
Roundabout with or without protected
space for cycling;

•

Providing refuges to allow cycles to give
priority to a heavy cycle flow; and

• Provide protected space for cycling
around the junction and cross each arm;

•

Providing road markings to highlight
the presence of cycle traffic to other
road users.

The arrangements are also classified
according to whether they provide full
legal priority over traffic leaving and
entering the side road or whether effective
priority is achieved through design.

• Provide grade separated cycle tracks
and and/or across the junction (mostly
applicable for large junctions on the
Strategic Road Network);
14

• Add signal control to the roundabout
with protected space for cycling; and
• Replace the roundabout with a signal
controlled or other form of junction with
appropriate cycle facilities.
Roundabouts with protected space for
cycling
Roundabouts that have high traffic flows
and speeds should have protected space
for cycling, in the same way that links with
these characteristics require protected
provision.

Page 152

The protected space should be included
both around the junction and on all entries
and exits so that cycle traffic is not
required to mix in time and space with
motor vehicle traffic.

LTN 1/20 presents several illustrations as to
how this can be achieved at both
unsignalised and signalised junctions.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Sections 10.7.8–10.7.27, pages 121–125

However, as with links where cycle traffic
mixes with motor vehicle traffic, this
approach is only appropriate with low
motor vehicle traffic speeds and volume.
LTN 1/20 specifies that mixed traffic
compact or mini roundabouts are
appropriate up to around 8,000 PCUs per
day with a maximum speed of 20mph.

infrastructure on
within Section 3.

links

as

highlighted

LTN 1/20 presents a table that helps to
identify the appropriate crossing type for
the speeds and flows or motor vehicle
traffic.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Sections 10.4, pages 99–104

− Sections 10.7.28–10.7.37, pages 125-126

− Table 10-2, page 100

Crossings
Cycle crossings are mid-link, stand-alone
facilities that enable cycle users to cross a
carriageway that would otherwise be a
barrier to movement. They can also form
part of junctions where cycle traffic is
taken off the carriageway and can also link
off-highway routes either side of a major
road.
LTN 1/20 divides crossing into the following
two types:
•

Uncontrolled crossings; and

Roundabout with cycling in mixed traffic

•

Controlled crossings.

Compact and mini roundabouts offer
opportunities to reduce motor vehicle
traffic speed and make it safe and
attractive for most people to cycle through
the junction mixed with motor vehicle
traffic.

A key consideration in the choice of
crossing type and the design of the facility
is the conditions on the link it traverses.
Motor traffic speed and volume are key
factors in determining the suitability of
each type of crossing. This is similar to
considering the appropriate form of cycle
15

Case Study - Within towns
Localised speed limit reductions
As per Figure 3-1 from LTN 1/20, an on-road cycle route where cyclists are mixed with
motor vehicles can be suitable for most users provided traffic speeds and volumes are low.
The guidance suggests that these ‘mixed traffic’ streets should have a 20mph speed limit
and traffic volumes less than 3,000 pcu/24 hour.

It is acknowledged that there can be initial opposition to the introduction of speed limit
reduction. Whilst the geography of Bristol is predominantly urban compared to North
Yorkshire, an evaluation of a 20mph scheme in Bristol demonstrated a number of benefits,
including:
• 94% of roads saw a reduction in speed, with largest reductions on A and B roads that
previously had the highest speeds.

Page 153

• Reduction in fatal, serious, and slight injuries, with estimated annual savings of over
£15m based on the DfT formula for the cost of road traffic casualties.
• An estimated 2 child lives and 4 child serious injuries will be prevented every 3 years.
• Walking and cycling across Bristol has increased, both among cycling travelling to
school and adults travelling to work. Across the city, people walking to work increased
from 17.5% to 18.9%, and people cycling to work increased from 11% to 15% between
2010 and 2015. People driving to work decreased from 53% to 44% over the same
period.
• Despite some initial opposition a clear majority now support 20mph limits, with 62%
supporting limits on residential roads and 72% on busy streets.
Localised speed limit reductions could in many places be a suitable solution for improving
cycling provision where a lack of road width and other constraints may limit the ability to
deliver dedicated cycling infrastructure. As noted previously, these zones are likely to
require interventions to ensure the speed limit is self-enforcing.

20mph zone in Ripon city centre

NYCC 20mph policy - NYCC has a 20mph speed limit and zone policy which can be used to support the implementation of 20mph zones
where appropriate.
There are multiple examples of 20mph speed limits in North Yorkshire including School Zones and the Ripon city centre 20mph zone which
covers the Market Place and several surrounding streets. These are areas of high footfall and have been introduced principally to protect
pedestrians; however they also provide an improved on-road environment for cyclists.

16

Segregated cycle routes and liveable neighbourhoods
Towns and cities across the UK are adopting Dutch style design principles including delivery of
segregated cycle routes and Liveable or Low-Traffic Neighbourhoods. These approaches were
recently endorsed by central government in its new cycle infrastructure design guidance.
Segregated cycle routes have been delivered across town and city centres in recent years,
leading to significant increases in the number of people cycling. The schemes provide direct
and comfortable routes, with high levels of priority for people walking and cycling. This
includes continuous footways and cycleways over side roads, and enhanced priority at
junctions and parallel “tiger” crossings
Local authorities across the country are also developing liveable neighbourhoods and Healthy
Streets to deliver safer, quieter, less polluted and more pleasant streets. They provide the
opportunity to create space for social activity, play and greening. Introducing liveable
neighbourhoods leads to:

Page 154

• more active travel;

• improvements in physical health & wellbeing; and
• greater social cohesion.
The term “modal filter” refers to infrastructure that allows people walking, cycling, and
sometimes public transport, but prevents through movements of motor traffic. Modal filters
can be the single most effective intervention installed along a street to reduce through traffic
and create safer streets for cycling and walking.
The best-known liveable neighbourhood in the UK is in Waltham Forest. The £2.3 million
scheme included cycle streets, continuous footways, pedestrian crossings, school streets,
pocket parks and trees, and “Bikehangars”, which provide secure cycle parking for residents in
the same footprint as half a car parking space.
Potential in North Yorkshire

Although the specific terminology changes depending on the initiative, ‘Liveable Streets’,
‘Healthy Streets’, and so on all build upon similar principles and objectives to create better
streets that align with the ‘place’ values ascribed to the area. North Yorkshire has many streets
that could benefit from these types of interventions. However, it must be recognised that in
constrained market towns that serve rural hinterlands, the car is still likely to remain an
important mode of travel. A wider strategy is likely to be required in many towns which
considers which streets are designed for movement, and which for place.

17

6 IN AND AROUND TOWNS
Cycling around the hinterlands of towns
can often mean cycling on or adjacent to
roads that have been traditionally
dedicated to moving motorised traffic at
faster speeds and higher volumes. Onhighway routes may also be supplemented
by quiet greenways or canal-side routes.

Page 155

Cycling between towns can often be along
similar routes, but volumes and speeds on
roads may be even higher, with some
highways prohibiting cyclists outright,
while
off-highway
routes
may
be
circuitous, suffer from poor maintenance,
or lack surveillance, making poor choices
in hours of darkness and inclement
weather.
With the rise in popularity of electric bikes
(or E-bikes), distances between towns are
becoming easier for cyclists, while hills are
less of a barrier. E-bikes create an
opportunity for 15 or 20-mile journeys to
become realistic distances for travelling by
bike, compared to the circa 5 mile journey
for commuting or utility purposes that a
traditional bike offers.
While all route and network design
requires equality and access assessment
for all road users, it may be appropriate for
out of town routes to make use of the
DMRB’s Walking, Cycling and Horse-riding
Assessment and Review.*

* DMRB GG142 Walking, Cycling and
Horse-Riding Assessment and Review

attractive route – one of the five core
principles.

This is particularly important when dealing
with Public Rights of Way, which may
permit equestrian access, and is a
requirement when considering routes on
the Strategic Road Network.

This buffer zone can be quite onerous in
terms of space, with an absolute minimum
width of 3.0m provided between a 70mph
road and an adjacent cycle route.

On and off road routes
Faster & busier roads
It is more than likely that most roads
considered as part of a coherent cycle
network between and around towns will
require segregation from motor traffic. LTN
1/20 is emphatic that traffic flows above
10,000 vehicles a day (two-way) absolutely
must include segregation for cycle users,
and schemes which cannot meet this
requirement
are
unlikely
to
gain
centralised funding.

Cycling routes alongside faster roads,
above 40mph, will need fully kerbed
segregation, rather than lighter forms.
Consideration should also be given to the
distance that can be given between
cyclists and moving traffic; close proximity
to fast moving vehicles can create negative
perceptions of safety, expose cyclists to
spray and debris, and fails to provide an

Routes between and around towns are
often the most appropriate locations for bidirectional tracks, where trip origin and
destination points are fewer and further
between and the need to access the route
from the opposite side of the carriageway
(often across busy and fast moving roads)
is minimised.
every

.

18

Routes between and around towns can
offer opportunities for conversion of
footways to shared use routes, as
pedestrian flows are likely to be very low or
non-existent, minimising potential conflict.
However, minimum width requirements
should still be adhered to, allowing to
cyclists to pass easily, as well maintaining a
safe distance from a live carriageway.

A system of off-road routes can
complement and enhance on-highway
routes,
and
are
often
particularly
appropriate in order to connect rural areas,
such as outlying villages to market towns,
where constrained rural roads may not
offer much potential for the necessary
segregated infrastructure.

• Width, including pinch points such as
under bridges for towpaths;

Greenways and off-road routes can
encompass various designations and types,
such as:

• Lighting and wayfinding, especially
when considering use all year round;
and

• Rural Connector; and

• PROWs, particularly
restricted byways;

• Urban Connector.

• Disused railway lines;

• Increased speeds of electric bikes and
perceptions of safety, particularly for
more vulnerable users.

Although it should be noted that not all
streets will fit neatly into this matrix, and
every street should be considered in
regards to its specific characteristic.

• Canal and riverside routes; and

Generally speaking, these considerations
will be applicable to the following road
types:

bridleways

and

Page 156

• The National Cycle Network.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Section 4.4.4, Table 4-1, page 33;

− Table 6-1, page 54
− Section 6.2.15, page 55
− Section 6.5.6, page 67
Greenways and off road routes
While the existing highway network can
offer significant opportunities to create a
coherent cycle network, particularly in
regards
to
lighting
and
natural
surveillance, this network may be sparse in
comparison to that within towns, and may
not be as direct as is desirable.

Greenways and off-road routes must
enable inclusivity in order to be funded
nationally as cycling infrastructure. This will
mean paying close attention to:

• Access and egress points, particularly
considering controls that can create a
physical barrier for some users;
• Level differences, including stairs but
also steeper gradients;

Width remains just as crucial in regards to
greenways and off-road routes as it does
on-road. The dynamic kinetic envelope of a
cyclist does not change, while desired
speeds may be even faster than within
towns. There must also be a consideration
of the type of user, the purpose of their trip,
and a recognition that the route may need
to perform multiple functions , offering a
fast and direct commute in the weeks with
few local pedestrians, while weekends may
attract multiple longer distance leisure
users on foot, bike, and horse where
permitted.
For these reasons, segregation remains
preferable. Where a robust assessment
evidences that this is not possible (for
instance, where a landowner will not
dedicate sufficient width to a PROW, or
alongside a canal), shared use may be
appropriate if all other options have been
discounted.
19

Access and egress points should include
bollards where controls are necessary to
dissuade antisocial behaviour. Careful
spacing is required in order to not exclude
certain user types, particularly those reliant
on hand cycles, or pedestrians with
wheelchairs, push chairs, and other
mobility aids.

Page 157

Ideally, anti-social behaviour should be
dissuaded though usage and good natural
surveillance. Usage may be encouraged
through good signage and clearly
identifiable access points, as well as
promotion and other activities. The route
should be overlooked where possible, with
new development integrating greenways
and maintenance programmes preventing
trees and vegetation obscuring sightlines.
Where access or even the route itself
requires level changes, these should be as
shallow as possible, ideally at a 1:20
gradient.
Lighting can create a vastly more attractive
route and promotes all-year round usage,
particularly in winter months and
inclement weather. While highway lighting
solutions can be appropriate, low-level
lighting is often preferred, minimising light
pollution and being less visually obtrusive.
Lighting may also be subject to time
restrictions - perhaps being switched off
between midnight and 05:00 for example
– which can reduce the impact on wildlife.
Finally, surfacing should also be closely
considered. A sealed surface, while vastly

more expensive in capital costs, offers a
much greater level of service for cyclists
and inclusivity for those with mobility
impairments. They are also much less likely
to require long term maintenance when
compared to a material such as crushed
gravel. Where asphalt is not considered
attractive and appropriate for an off-road
route, resin bound gravel could offer a
more attractive alternative, although this is
always somewhat subjective.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Section 8.3.5, page 86;
− Section 8.5.5, page 87
− Section 8.7.1, page 88
Junctions and crossings

Junctions
Junctions should be dealt with in much
the same way as those within towns –
readers should refer back to that section in
their considerations. However, it should be
reiterated
that
junctions
require
segregation in exactly the same conditions
as links, and that where speeds exceed
20mph or vehicle flows are above 2,500
AADT, segregated provision is likely to be
necessary for most users. In particular,
where flows are above 10,000 AADT,
segregation is absolutely essential.
Given that junctions between and around
towns are likely to be larger and perhaps
feature multiple lanes, segregation in time
becomes less likely to be the preferred
option, necessitating longer green time
and adversely affecting junction capacity.
Instead, segregation in space, i.e. offcarriageway, will likely be preferred.

Faster and busier roads
Generally speaking, these routes are often
designed in similar ways to those within
towns at junctions and crossings. However,
segregation in time or space from motor
vehicles is likely to be even more important
where flows and speeds are high and
junctions are likely to be large.
Although detrimental to cyclists, achieving
priority at junctions and side streets may
be less practicable due to high speeds and
flows, and crossings may require controls
or even structures such as bridges.

20

Given pedestrian flows are likely to be
lower towards the edges of urban areas,
shared use provision and toucans may
become more acceptable than within
towns.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Figure 4.1, page 33.
Crossing points

Page 158

Where 85th percentile speeds exceed
40mph, only signalised or grade separated
crossing points are likely to offer a good
level of provision for all types of users. If
speeds exceed 60mph, such as on main
arterial routes and the SRN, then grade
separated provision is likely to be the only
acceptable option.

Grade separated crossing points, such as
over and under bridges, can provide strong
levels of service in comparison to
signalised crossings, as they do not require
cyclists to stop and give way. Equally,
signalised crossings require motorised
traffic to stop where they may not
otherwise need to, which can have
implications on capacity.
The design of such crossing points are
often dictated by the topography and
specific characteristics of each location.
However, generally comments can be
made on design, such as:

• A preference to over bridges rather than
underpasses, which can become a
target for anti-social behaviour due to
reduced surveillance;
• A need to consider gradients and the
implications on effort required and
accessibility for all users; and
• The need for segregation, in the same
way as for all links regardless of location.
Note that as a vertical obstruction, bridges
require additional clearance from the
parapets; providing a minimum 0.5m
either side in addition to the general width
requirements – this means that a shared
use route should be at least 4.0m
minimum.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

cyclists may have to wait a considerable
amount of time to cross safely, a signalised
crossing should be considered, or even
signalisation of the junction if cycle flows
warrant it. A grade separated crossing
could also be considered.
Greenways and Off Road Routes
Greenways and off-road routes will
typically not feature junctions, as these are
intrinsically away from the highway and
therefore motorised traffic. Where these
return to the highway, the appropriate
guidance should be consulted.

Greenways and off-road routes may,
however, cross one another; at these
locations, it may be necessary to denote
priority, for which markings are prescribed
in the TSRGD.

− Table 10-2, page 100;

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Section 10.8, page 127

− Section 10.5.31, page 110

Side road junctions
On rural roads, or those with average
speeds above 40mph, providing priority for
cycle tracks through the side arms of
priority junctions in the same way as those
within towns is not recommended.
Instead, cyclists should be directed to cross
away from the junction, with a minimum
set back distance of 10m from the major
arm. Where traffic flows are high and

Pickering Breeze (women’s) ride

21

Case Study – Between and around towns
Exe Estuary Trail
The Exe Estuary Trail is a cycle and walking link extending for over 16
miles from Dawlish to Exmouth, and Exeter Quay. The 10-year scheme
cost around £17 million to develop, and has resulted in a high quality,
largely off-road, cycling and walking route. The route connects towns
and villages, railway stations and ferries; providing easier active access
around the Exe Estuary, one of Devon’s most highly designated and
protected environments. The trail forms part of the National Cycle
Network Route 2, as well as the East Devon Way and Exe Valley Way
walking trails.

Page 159

The trail enables safe commuter cycling between the settlements
around the Exe estuary. It also contributes to health and well-being by
providing an easily accessible green infrastructure to residents along
the Estuary.
It enables the public to experience the wildlife of the Estuary with
opportunities for education and community engagement, and provides
opportunities for business growth and tourism.

The trail connects 80,000 residents in the area to Exeter and helped
bring about a significant increase in walking and cycling. Around 30%
of trips made on the trail occurring during commuter periods. The trail
also has a high proportion of leisure use and acts as a tourist attraction
in its own right.
The scheme has also led to increased footfall in businesses along the
route, as well as enabling more cycle hire locations and leading to an
increase in cyclists using the cycle ferry at Starcross.
Evaluation of expenditure for trail users across the Exe Estuary Trail,
Drake’s Trail and the Tarka Trail, suggests the trails result in £13.4 million
in annual business turnover, 200 full time jobs, and health benefits of
over £3.5m per year.
22

Wayfinding, Littlehampton
Littlehampton in West Sussex has deployed high quality mapping and signage to highlight pedestrian areas of the seaside town and reconnect
the town centre to the seafront. Themed on a day out by the seaside, the graphic style is bright and lively. The mapping highlights landmarks
and attractions and key pedestrian routes to connect the public realm. The project builds on the approach of Legible Bristol, Bath, and similar
wayfinding schemes in London, which use high quality on-street signage, paper mapping, public art, and associated projects
Potential in North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire has a strong rural economy and many tourist attractions outside the urban environment. The county also relies on good
connections between the hinterlands and the town centres to provide jobs and opportunities. Greenways and off-road routes can help serve all
these purposes, providing attractive off-road routes away from busy arterial roads. Despite the potential, it should be noted that greenways are
rarely segregated, usually reliant on shared use provision, and can struggle to provide adequate security through surveillance / lighting or
comfort through a sealed and maintained surface. Greenways and off-road routes have plenty of potential in the county, but the purpose of the
route and expected user types should be considered carefully, with design standards applied commensurate to these considerations.

Page 160
23

7 NEW DEVELOPMENTS

Page 161

New developments offer a significant
opportunity to embed the right active
travel infrastructure within a development
while also creating a network for
motorised vehicles that encourages the
choice of the right mode of transport for
the journey length and purpose. Key areas
to consider are movement within new sites
and connections to the new site. New
housing developments will be different
from mixed or commercial developments
in the volume and type of motorised traffic
expected, and in the provision required for
active travel.
Residential developments
Streets within housing developments are
likely to have some of the strongest place
functions outside of town and local
centres.
LTN 1/20 notes early in its
discussion of Design Principles that people
travelling by foot or bicycle should be able
to take the shortest routes and make
connections where motorised traffic is
routed around living areas:

default
approach
in
traffic
management.” [our emphasis] Para 4.2.8,
p.30.

discourage travel on foot or by bike. It also
notes that a main spine through a housing
development can allow the site to be
served by public transport.

Building for a Healthy Life (BHL), published
for developers and planners by Homes
England , refers to this as ‘edge to edge
connectivity’. BHL updates the principles of
Building for Life 12, taking account of the
Environment Bill as well as input from NHS
England and the Healthy New Towns
Programme. A companion document,
Streets for a Healthy Life is in preparation
at the time of writing. Both are valuable
resources
with
illustrations
and
a
Red/Amber/Green approach to design
principles, including those that encourage
active travel.

Making Space for Cycling (Cyclenation and
Cambridge
Cycle
Campaign,
2014)
presents the visualisation opposite and
accompanying checklist illustrating an
indicative street layout within a new
development, noting that traditional,
“Permitting cyclists to make movements
interconnected streets can help provide
Connecting new developments
prohibited to motor traffic, allowing
easy connectivity for those walking and
BHL reminds designers and planners about
contraflow cycling, and creating links
cycling, whereas cul-de-sacs favoured over
the importance of connectivity to the
between cul-de-sacs to enable cyclists to
the past few decades often result in
take the shortest route, should be the
newly developed site in its section on
circuitous routes for active modes and
integrated
default
discourage
References and further detail: See Cycling Infrastructure section of NYCC Design Guide for Developers
24

Page 162

Integrated Neighbourhoods. This includes
connecting to existing infrastructure, but
also taking the opportunity to start new
routes if a connection is not obvious. Ch 14
of LTN 1/20 describes ways to improve
cycling
connectivity
using
highway
improvements
generally
and
new
developments specifically. It notes that
Local Authorities may wish to use the
Community Infrastructure Levy to pool
funds from different developments when
planning for connecting routes those
developments may require. Authorities
may also find this useful in upgrading
junctions to make cycling into and out of
developments safe and comfortable.

Connections may take the form of:
• Cycle lanes alongside existing, often
faster A-roads, and

• New paths away from roads: these can
be more direct than existing roads.
In choosing roads around and through
new developments, the Scottish National
Roads Development Guide notes:
“A designer who uses minimum road
standards is likely to swing the balance
towards movement rather than place
and this approach is not acceptable for
streets with a higher place function.”
NYCC issued guidance for developers
showing when design from DMRB or MfS
should take precedence. Note that LTN
time

1/20 had not been incorporated at the time
of writing this Cycle Design Guide –
designers should consider and agree the
appropriate design guidance from a
project’s outset.
Junctions

Where new developments are on the
outskirts of built up areas and connections
are along roads with higher speeds and
volumes, cyclists crossing major roads or
joining infrastructure alongside it must be
catered for, allowing for all movements.
The Junction Assessment Tool in Appendix
B of LTN 1/20 should be used when
considering any new junction where
cyclists may be present, and provides
guidance on the types of infrastructure
that may be acceptable depending on
vehicle speed, volume, and junction type.

Equally, a lack of parking and storage
facilities for bicycles can supress demand.
LTN 1/20 Ch 11.3, sets out minimum
recommended cycle parking guidance for
both residential and retail / employment /
leisure / education sites for use if no local
guidance exists. This includes 5% of spaces
co-located with disabled car parking for
disabled people. This should account for
wider bicycles or tricycles.
Residents will need storage within their
properties, often for multiple bikes, and
will often need wheel-through access to
the back of properties.

LTN 1/20 references and further detail

− Appendix B, the Junction Assessment
Tool
Cycle Parking

Transport Issues and Development was
produced by NYCC in 2003 as guidance to
developers and planners, describing
concerns that over-allocation of car
parking in developments encourages
driving and car dominance.
concerns
25

The Bicycle Association has published a
guide for cycle parking which covers
choosing products and installations for
public space, which it describes as:
• Safe (for users and their cycles);
• Secure (enabling secure locking);

• Long lasting (corrosion resistant etc.);
• Easy to use (including statutory duties
under the Equality Act); and

Junctions & crossings
At junctions joining the development,
higher levels of protection should be given
where the volume of motorised traffic
overall and/or the percentage of large
vehicles is high. Consideration should
especially be given to:

•

Separate signalisation for cyclists and
pedestrians; this could fully segregated
facilities, toucans, separate staging or
early release depending on existing /
forecast conditions .

•

Two-stage turns, especially where
multiple lanes of traffic are crossed
(presuming
segregation
is
not
required).

• Fully in compliance with UK legal
requirements.
Commercial or mixed developments

Page 163

Commercial,
retail
and
mixed-use
developments have different advantages
and disadvantages for cycling.
The health benefits for employees (and
employers) of active travel to work are
significant,
with
studies
reduced
absenteeism and increased productivity.
However, the mix of traffic is usually
different and some safety concerns are
more frequent in comparison with
residential developments. Key issues to
note include:
• A higher number of HGVs and other
large vehicles;
• Large volumes of mixed traffic at peak
times; and

Within developments, wider turning radii
to accommodate larger vehicles can
increase ‘left-hook’ collisions. A cycle route
with signalised crossings may be advisable
in order to alleviate safety concerns
associated with visibility, even if flows and
speeds would not necessarily require
segregation

LTN 1/20 references and further detail
− Section 10.6, Signalised Turns Twostage turns, p.115.

• Secure cycle parking. In retail and mixed
areas, parking for staff and public
parking may be different, reflecting long
term vs short term use.
26

8 WHERE TO LOOK FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE
National guidance

•

CIHT guidance on shared streets and
accessibility
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4463/ciht
_shared_streets_a4_v6_all_combined_1.
pdf

Page 164

•

CIHT Manual for Streets 2
https://tsrgd.co.uk/pdf/mfs/mfs2.pdf

•

DMRB CD195 – Designing for cycle traffic
(2021)
https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk
/dmrb/search/4b59ebc3-065b-467f8b43-09d2802f91c8

•

•

DMRB GG 142 Walking, Cycling and
Horse-Riding Assessment and Review
(2019)
https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk
/dmrb/search/5f33456d-32f9-4822-abf6e12510f5c8dc
Gear Change, England’s national policy
that ‘Sets out a vision for a travel
revolution in England's streets, towns
and communities.’ (2020)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publica
tions/cycling-and-walking-plan-forengland

•

Gear Change One Year On Review (2021)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publica
tions/gear-change-one-year-on-review

•

Healthy Streets, including checklists for
designing desirable streets and places
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/abouttfl/how-we-work/planning-for-thefuture/healthy-streets

•

LTN 1/20, England’s national guidance
(2020)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publica
tions/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120

•

Standards for public cycle parking (2021)
https://www.bicycleassociation.org.uk/p
arkingstandard/

•

•

Sustrans traffic-free routes and
greenways design guide (2019)
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/forprofessionals/infrastructure/sustranstraffic-free-routes-and-greenwaysdesign-guide/
Sustrans Low Traffic Neighbourhood
design guide (2020)
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/forprofessionals/infrastructure/anintroductory-guide-to-low-trafficneighbourhood-design/

New developments
• Building For a Healthy Life (2020)
https://www.designforhomes.org/project
/building-for-life/
•

Making Space for Cycling: A guide for
new developments and street renewals
(2014)
https://www.makingspaceforcycling.org/

•

Sustrans and CycleNation/Cambridge
Cycle Campaign for guides to design in
new developments.
https://www.gmcc.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/05/MakingSpaceFo
rCycling.pdf

NYCC publications

•

LCWIP plans
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/localcycling-and-walking-infrastructureplans-lcwips

•

NYCC Transport Plan 4, 2016-2021
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/localtransport-plan

•

Emerging NYCC Design Guide for
Developers (publication expected 2022)

27

Page 165
WSP House
70 Chancery Lane
London
WC2A 1AF
wsp.com

This page is intentionally left blank

